The influence of customer touchpoint digitalisation on customer perceived value in the South African vehicle and asset finance market

Sbusiso Tshuma 1578239

Supervisor: Prof Thomas Anning Dorson

A research report submitted to the Faculty of Commerce, Law and Management, University of the Witwatersrand, in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Management in the field of Digital Business

Johannesburg, 2022

ABSTRACT

This research undertook to address the lack of clarity on whether customer touchpoint digitalisation influences the formulation of CPV in the context of a VAF product and employed a conceptual framework based on the PERVAL scale. Customer touch-point digitalisation was hypothesised to have a significant positive influence on all three dimensions of CPV, namely functional (price), functional (quality) and emotional.

The population studied was South African residents who were 18 years or older and had purchased a VAF product in the past, the total population size was approximated at 2,3 million. Convenience sampling was used and a final sample size of 281 was attained. A quantitative research methodology was adopted for this study. Data was collected by means of a self-administered online questionnaire and SmartPLS 3 and IBM SPSS Statistics 27 were used for analysis.

The study found that customer touch-point digitalisation has a significant positive influence on all the dimensions of CPV, this influence being the strongest on functional value (quality) and weakest on functional value (price). Moreover, the study found that age and gender do not significantly moderate the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV.

This study found that the higher a VAF provider's level of customer touch-point digitalisation the more favourably customers will perceive the VAF provider's value propositions. Some recommendations emanating from this study are that VAF providers should aim to increase their level of customer touch-point

ii

digitalisation to gain a competitive advantage, they should also incorporate customer touch-point digitalisation into how they prioritise initiatives for investment. VAF providers with high levels of customer touch-point digitalisation should incorporate this into their integrated marketing communication plans and messaging to customers. VAF customers should take a VAF provider's level of customer touch-point digitalisation into account when deciding on which VAF provider to use.

KEYWORDS

Customer touch-point digitalisation; consumer perceived value; vehicle and asset finance; PLS-SEM

DECLARATION

I, Sbusiso Eugene Tshuma, declare that this research report is my own work except as indicated in the references and acknowledgements. It is submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Management in Digital Business at the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. It has not been submitted before for any degree or examination in this or any other university.

Name:	Sbusiso Eugene Tshuma	Signature:	J.
Signed	at		

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this to the giants on whose shoulders I've been able to stand so I could see and get this far:

To my late grandmother, Rosy, on the back of whose sacrifices I've been able to get to this point, and

To my mother who ceaselessly showered me with words of encouragement and motivation.

I have reached this point only because you carried me and believed in me.

To my nieces and nephews, it is possible.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My sincere gratitude goes to the following persons:

My Employer, FirstRand, for supplying me with the financial means to undertake this degree.

My supervisor, Prof. Thomas Anning Dorson, for shining the light that allowed me to progress forward when I found myself in the dark with no way to move forward.

My Digital Runners syndicate members, for encouraging me and providing advice and sympathetic ears for me to vent my frustrations to.

The businesses and business owners that allowed me to advertise my research at their premises, Leon from Caltex Weltevreden Park, Jamie's Midas Hillfox, BP Weltevreden Park, Shield Express Car Wash at Palm Court shopping centre.

The anonymous participants who took part in this research.

My friends, who kept in touch and reached out to me when I was too busy to do the same.

And lastly, my girlfriend, who was patient with me throughout this journey, acted as a social media influencer promoting my research and supported me during the tough times.

THANK YOU!!!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABS		ii
DECI	ARATION	iv
DEDI	CATION	v
ACK	NOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
LIST	OF TABLES	xi
LIST	OF FIGURES	xiii
LIST	OF ACRONYMS	xiv
CHA	PTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 1.2 1.3	PURPOSE OF THE STUDY BACKGROUND OF THE STUDY CONTEXT OF THE STUDY 1.3.1 THE VAF AND AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRIES IN SOUTH AFRICA 1.3.2 CHANGING CONSUMER HABITS: ADOPTION OF DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY	
1.4	RESEARCH PROBLEM	4 6
1.5 1.6	RESEARCH QUESTIONS SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY 1.6.1 EMPIRICAL AND CPV BODY OF KNOWLEDGE CONTRIBUTION 1.6.2 PRACTICAL AND VAF INDUSTRY CONTRIBUTION	8 9 10 11
1.7	DELIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	
1.0 1.9 1.10	ASSUMPTIONS	
CHA	PTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	15
2.1 2.2 2.3	INTRODUCTION LITERATURE REVIEW CONTEXT DEFINITION OF TOPIC OR BACKGROUND DISCUSSION 2.3.1 CUSTOMER PERCEIVED VALUE 2.3.2 DIGITALISATION	

2.4	DOES CUSTOMER TOUCH-POINT DIGITALISATION HAVE AN INFLUENCECUSTOMER PERCEIVED VALUE IN THE VAF PRODUCT CONTEXT?2.4.1ANTECEDENTS OF CPV AND RELATIONSHIP TO DIGITALISATION2.4.2BANK SELECTION DETERMINANTS AND DIGITALISATION2.4.3THE MODERATION ROLE OF AGE AND GENDER	E ON 21	21 27 29
2.5	ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK 2.5.1 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK 2.5.2 CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK 2.5.3 HYPOTHESES	31	31 31 33
2.6	CONCLUSION OF LITERATURE REVIEW	36	
СНА	PTER 3. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY		. 38
3.1		38	
3.2	RESEARCH APPROACH	38	
3.3	RESEARCH DESIGN	39	
3.4	DATA COLLECTION METHODS	39	
3.5	POPULATION AND SAMPLE	40	
	3.5.1 POPULATION		40 41
3.6	THE RESEARCH INSTRUMENT	43	41
3.7	PROCEDURE FOR DATA COLLECTION	44	
3.8	DATA ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION	46	
3.9	VALIDITY AND RELIABILITY	47	
	3.9.1 EXTERNAL VALIDITY		47
	3.9.2 INTERNAL VALIDITY		47 47
3.10	ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	48	
СНА	PTER 4. PRESENTATION OF RESULTS		.49
4.1		49	
4.2		50	
4.3	4.3.1 DISTRIBUTION OF THE DATA COLLECTED	53	53
	4.3.2 RESPONSE BREAKDOWN		54
	4.3.3 DATA SCREENING AND VALIDATION		55
4.4	MEASUREMENT MODEL ANALYSIS	57	00
	4.4.1 FACTOR LOADINGS		57
	4.4.2 DISCRIMINANT VALIDITY		58 60
	4.4.4 CONVERGENT VALIDITY		61
4.5	STRUCTURAL MODEL ANALYSIS	62	~ ~
	 4.5.1 COMMENTS ON MODEL FIT		62 63
	4.5.3 STRUCTURAL MODEL PREDICTIVE RELEVANCE (Q ²)		64
	 4.5.4 STRUCTURAL MODEL EFFECT SIZES (F²) 4.5.5 PATH COEFFICIENTS 		65 65

	4.5.6	H1: CUSTOMER TOUCH-POINT DIGITALISATION HAS A STRONG POSITIVE IN	FLUENCE ON
		FUNCTIONAL VALUE (PRICE)	66
	4.5.7	H2: CUSTOMER TOUCH-POINT DIGITALISATION HAS A STRONG POSITIVE IN	FLUENCE ON
		FUNCTIONAL VALUE (QUALITY)	66
	4.5.8	H3: CUSTOMER TOUCH-POINT DIGITALISATION HAS A STRONG POSITIVE IN	FLUENCE ON
		EMOTIONAL VALUE.	66
	4.5.9	H4: AGE AND GENDER WILL SIGNIFICANTLY MODERATE THE RELATIONSHIP	BETWEEN
		CUSTOMER TOUCH-POINT DIGITALISATION AND FUNCTIONAL VALUE (PRICE) 68
	4.5.10	H5: AGE AND GENDER WILL SIGNIFICANTLY MODERATE THE RELATIONSHIP	BETWEEN
		CUSTOMER TOUCH-POINT DIGITALISATION AND FUNCTIONAL VALUE (QUALI	тү) 68
	4.5.11	H6: AGE AND GENDER WILL SIGNIFICANTLY MODERATE THE RELATIONSHIP	BETWEEN
		CUSTOMER TOUCH-POINT DIGITALISATION AND EMOTIONAL VALUE.	69
4.6	SUMM	ARY OF THE RESULTS	69

5.1	INTRODUCTION	72
5.2	RESPONDENTS' DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	
5.3	CUSTOMER TOUCH-POINT DIGITALISATION HAS A STRONG INFLUENCE ON FUNCTIONAL VALUE (PRICE)	POSITIVE 74
5.4	CUSTOMER TOUCH-POINT DIGITALISATION HAS A STRONG INFLUENCE ON FUNCTIONAL VALUE (QUALITY)	POSITIVE 75
5.5	CUSTOMER TOUCH-POINT DIGITALISATION HAS A STRONG INFLUENCE ON EMOTIONAL VALUE	POSITIVE 76
5.6	CONCLUSION	77

Conc 6.2.1 6.2.2	LUSIONS: RESEARCH QUESTION 1: DOES CUSTOMER TOUCH-POINT DIGITALISATION H INFLUENCE ON CUSTOMER PERCEIVED VALUE IN THE VAF PRODUCT CONTE RESEARCH QUESTION 2: DO AGE AND GENDER MODERATE THE RELATIONS BETWEEN CUSTOMER TOUCH-POINT DIGITALISATION AND CPV AND ITS DIMI	79 IAVE AN XT? 79 HIP ENSIONS?
IMPLIC 6.3.1 6.3.2	CATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS For VAF providers: For consumers:	81 81 82
LIMITA 6.4.1 6.4.2	ATIONS OF THE STUDY SAMPLING METHOD LIMITATIONS DATA COLLECTION METHOD LIMITATIONS	83 83 83
SUGG 6.5.1 6.5.2 6.5.3	ESTIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH ADDRESS SAMPLING LIMITATIONS INVESTIGATE WHETHER EXPERIENCE INFLUENCES THE RELATIONSHIP BETW CUSTOMER TOUCH-POINT DIGITALISATION AND CPV TEST FINDINGS IN DIFFERENT CONTEXTS	83 83 /EEN 84 84
	CONC 6.2.1 6.2.2 IMPLIC 6.3.1 6.3.2 LIMITA 6.4.1 6.4.1 6.4.2 SUGG 6.5.1 6.5.2 6.5.3	 CONCLUSIONS:

REFERENCES	85
APPENDIX A – Consistency Matrix	98
APPENDIX B – Actual Research Instrument	102
APPENDIX C – Research Invitations	110

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: List of acronyms	xiv
Table 2: Definition of terms	12
Table 3: Definitions of CPV	17
Table 4: Definition of digitalisation	20
Table 5: CPV research summary	22
Table 6: Dimensions of CPV from banking studies	23
Table 7: Dimensions and Items/Indicators for banking CPV scales	25
Table 8: Determinants of bank selection research	28
Table 9: Sample Size Guide for PLS (adapted from Cohen (1992))	43
Table 10: Research instrument breakdown	44
Table 11: Data mapping and coding key	50
Table 12: Tests of Normality results	53
Table 13: Sample vs Population Demographics	57
Table 14: Factor Loading Results	58
Table 15: Discriminant Validity - Cross-Loadings	59
Table 16: Discriminant Validity - Latent Variable HTMT Ratios	60

Table 17: Construct Reliability Measures	61
Table 18: Average variance extracted (AVE) results	62
Table 19: R ² values	64
Table 20: Q ² Values	64
Table 21: <i>f</i> ² Values	65
Table 22: Path Coefficients	65
Table 23: PLS Multi-Group Analysis Results	67
Table 24: Multi-Group Parametric Test Results	67
Table 25: Moderating Effect of Age Results	67
Table 26: Hypothesis Testing Summary	70

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Research Report Outline	14
Figure 2: Contextualisation of the Research	16
Figure 3: Relationship between CPV and dimensions (formative) (a	adapted from
Jarvis et al. (2003))	19
Figure 4: Conceptualisation of CPV scales in banking (adapted from	Fandos Roig
et al. (2006) and Parente et al. (2015))	24
Figure 5: Theoretical framework (adapted from Sweeney and Souta	ır (2001)). 31
Figure 6: Conceptual framework	33
Figure 7: South African employment by age group (based on Sta	atistics South
Africa (2021b))	42
Figure 8: Chapter 4 Outline	49
Figure 9: Survey Response Breakdown	54
Figure 10: Respondent Age	56
Figure 11: Respondent Gender	56
Figure 12: SmartPLS Model	71
Figure 13: QR Code Poster Invitation	110
Figure 14: LinkedIn Invitation	111
Figure 15: Social Media Invitation	112

LIST OF ACRONYMS

Table 1: List of acronyms

Acronym	Description
CPV	Customer Perceived Value
IT	Information Technology
КҮС	Know Your Customer
OEM	Original Equipment Manufacturer
PLS	Partial Least Squares
QR	Quick Response
SA	South Africa
SEM	Structural Equation Modelling
UTAUT2	Extended Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology
VAF	Vehicle and asset finance

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Purpose of the study

This research is a quantitative study to investigate the influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on customer perceived value (CPV) within the South African vehicle and asset finance (VAF) market.

1.2 Background of the study

Firms need to be providers of value and to rethink the ways in which they create and provide this value so as to differ from competitors, improve their results and thrive in volatile and uncertain business environments brought about by disruption (Kurznack et al., 2021).

Customer perceived value (CPV) is an area of research that is concerned with studying why consumers make the choices they do; and particularly how value influences the choices consumers make at the use (use vs not use a product), product type (product type A vs product type B) and brand (brand X vs brand Y) level (Sheth et al., 1991). Previous authors have defined CPV in various ways, such as the perceived difference between the benefits derived and the sacrifices made to pursue a particular option (Zeithaml, 1988), other authors have approached CPV as a multi-dimensional construct comprised of functional, social and emotional elements (EI-Adly, 2019; Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Parente et al., 2015). What all the authors agree on is the relevance of CPV in consumer choices.

Gartner (n.d) define digitalisation as "the use of digital technologies to change a business model and provide new revenue and value-producing opportunities; it is the process of moving to a digital business", According to Armstrong and Lee (2021) it is "the reconceptualization and reconfiguration of processes and systems from analogue- and physical-centric forms into maximally digital-centric forms", these definitions imply that digitalisation is concerned with using technology to transform previously physical or analogue ways of delivering value to customers or doing business into digital ways of doing business and delivering value.

An area where digitalisation has been widely applied is the digitalisation of customer touch-points; this has been done in the form of self-service checkout systems in the retail industry (Demirci Orel & Kara, 2014; Meuter et al., 2000), as well as mobile and internet banking in financial services (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Ghazi Zouari & Abdelhedi, 2021; Mostafa, 2020). This transformation has yielded benefits for both firms and consumers (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Garg et al., 2014; Kurz, 2017), yet it is currently not clear what the effect of digitalisation of customer touch-points is on how consumers formulate the perceived value of a brand or product.

Determinants of bank selection research also reveals that convenience, availability of technology-based services, quick/prompt service, and overall quality of service are key determinants of consumer bank selection choices (Agarwal, 2017; Aregbeyen, 2011; Blankson et al., 2007; Hinson et al., 2013), customer touch-point digitalisation has been found to have a positive influence on these determinants (Demirci Orel & Kara, 2014; Meuter et al., 2000).

Understanding how to best leverage digitalisation could be key in enabling VAF providers to survive and thrive in a challenging economic climate.

1.3 Context of the study

1.3.1 The VAF and automotive industries in South Africa

In South Africa, most consumers purchase vehicles using loans acquired from VAF providers, these VAF providers are usually divisions of the major banks. Absa, Motor Finance Corporation (MFC) – a division of Nedbank, Standard bank VAF and WesBank - a division of FirstRand bank - are the dominant VAF providers in the South African market with a combined market share of over 97% (Thompson, 2018). Increased competition in the banking sector has resulted in banks introducing more sophisticated and innovative delivery methods and channels for their products (Camarate & Maritz, 2018), South African banks have not been an exception, as in the recent past, VAF providers have invested heavily in adding digital customer touch-points to their offerings, such as online finance calculators, online finance pre-approval, iContract by WesBank (the ability to sign your vehicle loan agreement online), emailed statements, electronic Know Your Customer (e-KYC) and the ability to request and download account and vehicle letters online (such as border letters and paid-up letters), these initiatives by the VAF providers form part of their digitalisation efforts (Absa Group Limited, 2021; FirstRand, 2020; Nedbank Group, 2020; Standard Bank Group, 2020). The view of increasing spending on digitalisation is further supported by PwC (2021), which found that information technology (IT) was the fastest growing spend category for the four largest banks in South Africa in the 2020 financial year.

The automotive industry contributes 4.9% to the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) of South Africa, with 119344 new cars and light commercial vehicles (LCV) being sold on average per year (between 2011 and 2019), these sales are done almost exclusively through dealerships, however, the number of vehicles being sold in South Africa has been in decline over recent years (NAAMSA, 2019, 2021b; National Automobile Dealers Association, 2021). Additionally, the VAF providers in South Africa have 2.3 million active accounts with an outstanding balance of R493 billion (TransUnion, 2021), these figures are a testament to the important role VAF providers play in meeting the mobility needs of South Africans. Most vehicle finance purchases are originated at the dealer premises once consumers have decided on a vehicle to purchase (wheels24, 2021), this makes it difficult for VAF providers to differentiate their offerings outside of price, despite their large investments in digitalisation. This then means the only area where VAF providers can differentiate themselves is in how they service their customers.

1.3.2 Changing consumer habits: adoption of digital technology in South Africa

According to We are Social (2021), there are 100.6 million mobile connections in SA (168.5% of the population), 38 million internet users (64% of the population), with the average internet user (aged between 16 and 64) spending on average 10 hours 6 minutes using the internet on a daily basis. The mobile connection and internet use figures represent annual growth rates of 0.8% and 4.5% respectively compared to population growth of 1.3%, which implies that the number of internet users is growing at a faster rate than the population. There is also large and growing e-commerce activity, with 90.2% and 57.7% of internet

users having done an online search for a product or service and purchased a product online respectively (We are Social, 2021). The lockdowns introduced due to the COVID-19 pandemic have also led to increases in e-commerce activity, with Standard Bank South Africa (2020) reporting an 84% increase in the value of online grocery purchases.

From a banking perspective, SA bank customers have also increased their usage of digital channels, with First National Bank recording a 23% growth in mobile application usage between July and December 2020 (Labuschagne, 2021), and having over 6 million digitally-active users on their digital platforms (online banking and banking application) on a monthly basis (Moyo, 2021). The convergence of increasing internet penetration, mobile penetration, consumer adoption of digital channels, increase in e-commerce, changes in consumer mobility needs and preferences, as well as changes in OEMs' business models (e.g., selling directly to consumers and not via dealerships) has brought about changes to the ways in which consumers search for and purchase vehicles (Schmidt et al., 2019; SubPrime, 2016; We are Social, 2020).

These changes in how consumers search for, purchase, and maintain vehicles, especially the growing role of internet and technology usage in the customer journey, may have an impact on how digitalisation of customer touch-points by VAF providers influences the customer perceived value of their products in the South African VAF market.

1.4 Research problem

Low economic growth (average growth rate of -0.281% between 2015 and 2020) has led to a decrease in vehicle sales in South Africa in recent years (average decrease of 2% in new vehicle sales between 2016 and 2019), and this decrease in sales is likely to be exacerbated by the introduction of electric vehicles (which have a longer lifespan) to the South African market (Deloitte, 2019; Fischer et al., 2021; NAAMSA, 2021a; Schmidt et al., 2019; Statistics South Africa, 2020b, 2021a; The World Bank, 2022).

The decrease in overall vehicle sales, within the context of a highly competitive banking environment, has resulted in compromised revenues and profits for VAF providers (Thompson, 2018). VAF providers are still required to remain competitive and profitable while operating under these economic conditions, where the market isn't growing, and competition is high. To compound the situation, previous research into bank switching behaviour has found that consumers in highly competitive bank markets, such as South Africa, are more likely to switch banks (Brunetti et al., 2016), this means VAF providers are also at risk of losing their existing customers to competitors.

In a market that is shrinking, to be profitable and to grow, VAF providers must keep hold of their existing customers and convince the other customers that can still afford VAF products to switch from competitors. Previous research into bank switching behaviour (Narteh, 2013; Zhao et al., 2021) suggests that VAF providers can do this by providing convenience, offering better service, reducing the cost of service and by communicating their value propositions through better advertising; this is due to customer pain points such as service encounter failures,

electronic banking failures, inconvenience, and pricing failures being the main contributing factors to bank switching behaviour (Narteh, 2013; Zhao et al., 2021).

To address the challenges faced, some VAF providers have invested in the digitalisation of customer touch-points as a solution (Absa Group Limited, 2021; FirstRand Limited, 2021; Nedbank Group, 2020; Standard Bank Group, 2020), this is due to the positive impact digitalisation of customer touch-points has been found to have on convenience, service quality, transaction costs and customer satisfaction. Digitalisation of customer touch-points has also been found to provide value for both firms and consumers (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Demirci Orel & Kara, 2014; Mostafa, 2020). Digitalisation of customer touch-points is especially important for VAF providers as this is the only area where they have control of engagements with consumers and can shape customer perceptions due to most vehicle sales taking place at dealers' premises (wheels24, 2021).

CPV is concerned with studying why consumers make the choices they make and how value influences the choices consumers make, which encompasses choices that are made at brand level (VAF provider X vs VAF provider Y), CPV has also been found to be a good predictor and explainer of consumer choices (Parente et al., 2015; Sheth et al., 1991; Sweeney & Soutar, 2001; Zeithaml, 1988). Given the need for VAF providers to retain existing customers and convince customers to switch from competitors in a low growth and highly competitive market, understanding whether digitalisation of customer touchpoints has an influence on CPV is imperative for VAF providers.

Existing research on CPV has either focused on contexts outside of banking, such as retail products, location-based services and tourism (El-Adly, 2019; Pura,

2005) and the CPV research that has focused on banking has excluded electronic banking channels and digitalised touch-points (Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Parente et al., 2015). To the researcher's best knowledge (premised on a rigorous evaluation of the existing CPV literature), there is little or no research that investigates customer touch-point digitalisation's influence on CPV, less so in the context of VAF providers.

Therefore, the problem this research undertook to address is the lack of clarity on whether customer touch-point digitalisation influences the formulation of CPV in a VAF context. The relationship between CPV and its dimensions has already been established by other researchers as being formative (Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Parente et al., 2015; Sánchez et al., 2006; Sweeney & Soutar, 2001; Zeithaml, 1988) and was not the subject of this study. This study addressed the influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on CPV by investigating the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and the CPV dimensions applicable to a banking context, as reflected by the research questions employed.

1.5 Research questions

- 1. Does customer touch-point digitalisation have an influence on customer perceived value in the South African VAF product context?
 - 1.1. Does customer touch-point digitalisation have an influence on Functional value (price) in the South African VAF product context?
 - 1.2. Does customer touch-point digitalisation have an influence on Functional value (quality) in the South African VAF product context?

- 1.3. Does customer touch-point digitalisation have an influence on Emotional value in the South African VAF product context?
- 2. Do age and gender moderate the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV through its dimensions in the South African VAF product context?

1.6 Significance of the study

Many South African financial services firms have digitalised their customer touchpoints, the motives for digitalising have varied from driving down the costs of customer acquisition and servicing to introducing operational efficiencies (Absa Group Limited, 2021; FirstRand, 2020; Nedbank Group, 2020; Standard Bank Group, 2020). Studies have found that digitalised customer touch-points positively influence customer loyalty and satisfaction (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Ghazi Zouari & Abdelhedi, 2021), according to Ahmad and Al-Zu'bi (2011), this is because digitalised customer touch-points improve convenience while reducing the associated cost of banking.

The items that are positively influenced by customer touch-point digitalisation, such as convenience, service quality and cost of transacting have been found to be reflective of the CPV dimensions identified in banking, namely functional (price), functional (quality) and emotional value (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Parente et al., 2015). However, based on the researcher's knowledge there has been no research that investigates the direct influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on CPV or its dimensions in the banking context. it is not clear whether digitalised customer touch-points influence the

value that consumers assign to a firm's VAF product when making a choice on which VAF provider to purchase from, and therefore difficult for VAF industry decision makers to assess their investments in customer touch-point digitalisation from a CPV perspective. This study contributed to the body of knowledge by providing evidence of the nature of the relationship between the dimensions of CPV and customer touch-point digitalisation.

1.6.1 Empirical and CPV body of knowledge contribution

This research enhanced the existing knowledge on CPV by examining the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV through its dimensions. Previous CPV research has focused on identifying and verifying what the dimensions of CPV are and building scales to measure CPV in different contexts (Boksberger & Melsen, 2011; El-Adly, 2019; El-Adly & Eid, 2015; Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Hernandez-Ortega et al., 2017; Parente et al., 2015; Petrick, 2002; Prodanova et al., 2019; Sánchez et al., 2006; Sweeney & Soutar, 2001) but has not examined whether factors such as digitalisation of customer touch-points influence those dimensions and ultimately CPV. Determinants of bank selection research identifies reasons such as cost, convenience and security as contributing to why consumers choose one bank over another (Aregbeyen, 2011; Blankson et al., 2007; Hinson et al., 2013; Phuong Ta & Yin Har, 2000). The manifestations of customer touch-point digitalisation such as online banking, digital sales and customer service have been found to have a positive influence on the bank selections factors identified by bank selection determinants research (Ghazi Zouari & Abdelhedi, 2021; Meuter et al., 2000), yet existing literature on CPV in banking does not address the influence of customer

touch-point digitalisation on the CPV dimensions, in spite of the fact that digitalisation is transforming customer expectations and the way banks operate (Harris et al., 2016; PwC, 2020).

1.6.2 Practical and VAF industry contribution

Although widely studied, there is limited research that offers practical guidelines for practitioners and VAF providers on CPV in the banking industry, and in particular, the VAF context, and less so in a South African market context. A study's context matters because new contexts can lead to significant changes in theories, such as causing relationships that were originally theorised to be insignificant to become significant, affecting the direction of relationships and creating new relationships between variables (Alvesson & Kärreman, 2007; Johns, 2006). Understanding whether customer touch-point digitalisation influences CPV is useful to South African VAF providers in a bid to attain a competitive advantage in an environment that is highly competitive and where consumers are buying fewer vehicles than in previous years (NAAMSA, 2021b). The findings from this study can help guide decision makers in the VAF industry on where to focus their limited resources.

1.7 Delimitations of the study

The scope of the study will include VAF customers who are individuals/natural persons, VAF customers who reside in South Africa. Lastly, the scope of digitalisation this research addresses is limited to the digitalisation of customer touch-points as perceived by VAF customers.

The research scope excludes VAF customers who are juristic persons and VAF customers who reside outside of South Africa.

1.8 Definition of terms

The definitions of the terms used in this study are provided in Table 2 below.

Term	Definition
Digitalisation	"Reconceptualization and reconfiguration of processes and systems from analogue- and physical-centric forms into maximally digital-centric forms" (Armstrong & Lee, 2021) Examples of digitalised customer touch-points in a VAF context include capabilities that allow customers:
	 to interact with the VAF provider's products before purchasing (e.g., online catalogue, online finance preapproval) to conclude the purchase of a VAF product online (e.g., iContract, online identity, address, and source of funds verification (KYC)) to manage their accounts online (e.g., change payment method, date, and account) to request and receive assistance regarding their accounts online (e.g., border letter request).
Emotional value	"The perceived utility acquired from an alternative's capacity to arouse feelings or affective states" (Sheth et al., 1991).

Table 2: Definition of terms

Term		Definition
Functional (price)	value	"The utility derived from the product due to the reduction of its perceived short term and longer term costs."(Sweeney & Soutar, 2001)
Functional (quality)	value	"The utility derived from the perceived quality and expected performance of the product".(Sweeney & Soutar, 2001)
Social value		"The perceived utility acquired from an alternative's association with one or more specific social groups" (Sheth et al., 1991).
Vehicle and finance	asset	A type of financial product where a bank provides a customer with a loan to purchase a vehicle or movable asset, the vehicle or movable asset is held as collateral for the loan and ownership is only transferred to the customer once the full loan amount has been repaid to the bank (Pieterse, 2009).

1.9 Assumptions

No assumptions are being made that significantly impact the study's outcome.

1.10 Report outline

The report consists of 6 chapters and is structured as outlined in Figure 1 below. A detailed literature review is conducted in Chapter 2, the methodological choices made are elaborated on in Chapter 3, and the data analysis results are presented in chapter 4. Chapter 5 discusses the results and integrates them with the literature. Lastly, chapter 6 draws conclusions and provides recommendations based on this study's findings and makes suggestions for future research.



Figure 1: Research Report Outline

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

A theoretical evaluation of the concepts that this study is based on, namely, CPV and digitalisation is provided in this chapter, the chapter then aims to outline the current state of the research. The main themes uncovered in the literature are then outlined. Additionally, considerations that are relevant to the research topic are discussed, culminating in the hypotheses being developed.

2.2 Literature review context

CPV is viewed as a multi-dimensional construct that influences the choices made by consumers in various contexts and choice levels, i.e. buy or not buy, product type 1 vs product type 2 and brand A vs brand B (Sheth et al., 1991; Sweeney & Soutar, 2001), customer touch-point digitalisation has introduced new ways for firms to interact with customers and allowed firms that have utilised it to gain a competitive advantage over their peers (Kurz, 2017; Westerman et al., 2012). Current research into CPV does not cover the role digitalisation plays in the formulation of CPV. This literature review examines the present state of CPV, digitalisation and bank selection determinants research, and proposes hypotheses on how customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV are intertwined within the context of the South African VAF market.

This will be done in the context of the research questions of:

- 1. Does customer touch-point digitalisation have an influence on customer perceived value in the South African VAF product context?
- 2. Do age and gender moderate the relationship between customer touchpoint digitalisation and CPV through its dimensions in the South African VAF product context?

In addressing the first question, the definition and dimensions of CPV, as well as the definition and benefits of digitalisation are outlined, a related area of research, determinants of bank selection, is investigated and the potential relationship between the CPV dimensions and customer touch-point digitalisation proposed. Figure 2 illustrates the different research areas the literate review and study weave together.



Figure 2: Contextualisation of the Research

In addressing the second question, the role of age and gender in technology adoption, and internet and mobile banking adoption is explored, and the potential role of age and gender in the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and the dimensions of CPV is proposed.

2.3 Definition of topic or background discussion

2.3.1 Customer Perceived Value

The definitions of CPV adopted by different researchers over time are outlined in Table 3. These definitions were selected due to forming the basis of the definitions used by and studies carried out by most other researchers.

Author	Definition	Dimensionality
Zeithaml (1988)	"The consumer's overall assessment of	CPV seen as a
	the utility of a product based on	unidimensional
	perceptions of what is received and what	construct.
	is given" in a choice situation. Value is	
	seen as representing "a trade-off between	
	benefits and sacrifices". A utilitarian	
	approach is taken towards perceived	
	value determination. Functional aspects	
	of value such as price and quality are	
	deemed to be the antecedents of	
	customer perceived value.	

Table 3: Definitions of CPV

Author	Definition	Dimensionality
Sheth et al. (1991)	CPV is a construct made up of multiple	CPV seen as a
	values (functional, social, emotional,	multi-dimensional
	epistemic, conditional) which are	construct.
	independent and contribute additively to a	
	given choice scenario, the extent to which	
	each dimension contributes to CPV varies	
	based on the choice situation. A	
	consumer will choose the option with the	
	highest CPV.	
Sweeney and Soutar	Viewed CPV as a multi-dimensional	CPV seen as a
(2001)	construct (quality, price, social, and	multi-dimensional
	emotional) in a similar manner to Sheth et	construct.
	al. (1991) but contended that the	
	values/dimensions are interdependent.	

Researchers have largely agreed with the multi-dimensional view of CPV, which considers both the cognitive and emotional dimensions to decision making among consumers (Arne et al., 2017; Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Zeithaml et al., 2020). Based on this definition, various scales were built in different contexts such as PERVAL (Sweeney & Soutar, 2001), GLOVAL (Sánchez et al., 2006), MALLVAL (El-Adly & Eid, 2016) and a CPV scale in the Brazilian retail banking context (Parente et al., 2015) which were all found to be valid.

The definition of CPV this study adopted is in line with the consensus among researchers that CPV is a multi-dimensional construct comprised of functional,

social and emotional value, this study will also adopt the view shared by Jarvis et al. (2003) and Fandos Roig et al. (2006) that CPV is a formative construct, this is due to the dimensions being the defining characteristics of CPV (as per measurement model criteria by Jarvis et al. (2003)), meaning the direction of causality flows from the dimensions to CPV (Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Sheth et al., 1991; Sweeney & Soutar, 2001). This definition is suitable to the VAF context as Williams and Soutar (2009) found that a unidimensional perspective of CPV that focuses on functional value only is not suitable for service contexts such as VAF. The relationship between CPV and its dimensions as per the definition adopted by this study is illustrated in Figure 3.



Figure 3: Relationship between CPV and dimensions (formative) (adapted

from Jarvis et al. (2003))

2.3.2 Digitalisation

Table 4 below outlines some of the definitions for digitalisation that were found in literature.

Table 4	l: De	finition	of	digita	lisation
---------	-------	----------	----	--------	----------

Author	Definition
Armstrong and Lee (2021)	"Reconceptualization and reconfiguration of processes and systems from analogue- and physical-centric forms into maximally digital- centric forms"
Gartner (n.d)	"The use of digital technologies to change a business model and provide new revenue and value-producing opportunities; it is the process of moving to a digital business."
Ghazi Zouari and Abdelhedi (2021)	Defined digitalisation in banking as the acquisition of technology-based capabilities that improve customer experience by enabling new methods of interaction and customer service delivery.

This study adopted the following composite definition of digitalisation based on the definitions of Armstrong and Lee (2021), Gartner (n.d) and Ghazi Zouari and Abdelhedi (2021):

The use of technology to transform the way of doing business from analogue and/or physical to digital, with the aim of improving business outcomes. Which in banking typically manifests in offerings that enable self-service for consumers. An example of digitalisation in the banking context is mobile banking, which allows customers to interact with a bank, execute transactions and manage their accounts online on their mobile devices at a lower cost; it allows customers to view account balances and make payments and it's available to customers at any time and any location (Singh & Srivastava, 2018). In the VAF context, examples of customer touch-point digitalisation include electronic statements, online query logging and resolution, electronic border, and settlement letters.

2.4 Does customer touch-point digitalisation have an

influence on customer perceived value in the VAF product context?

2.4.1 Antecedents of CPV and relationship to digitalisation

Numerous studies that aimed to determine the antecedents of CPV in varying contexts, and to measure CPV in different consumer choice situations have been conducted, Table 5 below summarises some of these. In the context of banking, the CPV measurement scales which were created by Fandos Roig et al. (2006) and Parente et al. (2015) found that CPV is a good predictor of consumer bank choice.

Table 5: CPV research summary

Author	Conceptual	Dimensions	Country and
	foundation		context
Sweeney and	Consumption values	Emotional Value	Australia:
Soutar (2001)	(Sheth et al., 1991)	• Functional Value	Consumer
		(quality)	durable goods
		• Functional value	
		(price)	
		Social Value	
Petrick (2002)	(Zeithaml, 1988)	Behavioural price	USA: Tourism
		Emotional	
		response	
		Monetary price	
		Quality	
		Reputation	
Wang et al. (2004)	PERVAL	Functional value	China: Online
	(Sweeney & Soutar,	Emotional value	shopping
	2001)	Social value	
		Perceived	
		sacrifices	
Pura (2005)	Consumption values	Conditional value	Finland:
	(Sheth et al., 1991)	Emotional value	Location-
		Epistemic value	based mobile
		Social value	services
Fandos Roig et al.	PERVAL	Emotional value	Spain: Banking
(2006)	(Sweeney & Soutar,	• Functional value	
	2001)	(establishment)	
		• Functional value	
		(personnel)	
		• Functional value	
		(product)	
		• Functional value	
		(price)	
		Social value	
Author	Conceptual	Dimensions	Country and
------------------	----------------------	-----------------------------------	-----------------
	foundation		context
Williams and	Consumption values	Emotional value	Australia:
Soutar (2009)	(Sheth et al., 1991)	• Value for money	Tourism
		 Novelty value 	
Parente et al.	PERVAL	Convenience	Brazil: Banking
(2015)	(Sweeney & Soutar,	Monetary sacrifice	
	2001)	Reputation	
	(Petrick, 2002)	Service quality	
Hernandez-Ortega	PERVAL	Cost-benefit value	Spain and
et al. (2017)	(Sweeney & Soutar,	Emotional value	Greece:
	2001)	Quality-	Mobile
		performance value	messaging
		Social value	services

In building their scales CPV researchers (Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Parente et al., 2015) used indicators that fall into the functional, social, and emotional dimensions of CPV as illustrated in Table 6.

Table 6: Dimensions of CPV from banking studies

Dimension	Fandos Roig et al. (2006)	Parente et al. (2015)
	Functional value of the	Monetary sacrifice
	installations of the	
	establishment	
Functional	Functional value of the	Operational quality
i unctonal	contact personnel	
	Functional value of the	Convenience and access
	service (quality)	
	Functional value (price)	
Emotional	Emotional value	Safety and soundness

Dimension	Fandos Roig et al. (2006)	Parente et al. (2015)
Social	Social value	

A closer examination of some of the indicators (see Table 5) reveals that they are comprised of items that relate to the cost, convenience and quality of service associated with transacting. The scales used conceptualised the dimensions as having a formative relationship with CPV, but a reflective relationship with the items (see Figure 4).





Fandos Roig et al. (2006) and Parente et al. (2015))

Table 7 outlines the dimensions and items tested by researchers when developing CPV scales in a banking context.

Fandos Roi	g et al. (2006)	Parente et al. (2015)		
Dimension	Items	Dimension	Items	
Functional value of the service	"The service as a whole is correct"		"My bank's processes are fast and reliable"	
	been maintained all of the time"	Service quality	services provided by my bank is very good"	
			"Services provided by my bank are delivered as promised"	
(Quality)	"The level of quality is acceptable in comparison with other entities" "The results of the service received were as expected"	Convenience and access	"In my bank, I am able to make transactions at convenient times"	
Functional value (price)	"The service is good for the expense it causes me" "The total cost that it causes me is reasonable"	Monetary sacrifice	"What I spend in order to make bank transactions is adequate (parking, transportation, etc.)" "Maintenance fees charged by my bank are adequate" "Services charges (bank statements, wire transfers, etc.) of my bank are fair"	

Table 7: Dimensions and I	Items/Indicators for	r banking CPV scales
---------------------------	----------------------	----------------------

Fandos Roi	g et al. (2006)	Parente	et al. (2015)
Dimension	Items	Dimension	Items
	"I am happy with the		"My bank handles my
	financial services		information in a
Emotional Value	contracted"		confidential and
	"I feel relaxed"		private manner"
	"In general I feel at ease"		

Demirci Orel and Kara (2014) studied the impact of self-service checkout systems (a form of customer touch-point digitalisation in supermarkets) on service quality and concluded that they have a positive effect. Ahmad and Al-Zu'bi (2011) found that electronic banking positively affected loyalty and customer satisfaction and due in part to the accessibility, convenience, speed, cost, and security benefits it provided to customers.

Digitalisation of customer touch-points has been found to have a positive effect on the items used in the CPV scales. It has been found to reduce the cost of transacting for both the bank and customer, it has made transacting more convenient, and increased availability of services; through automation of processes, service quality and speed are enhanced as well as offering a reduction in errors (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Mostafa, 2020). Meuter et al. (2000) also argue that self-service transacting will be a key enabler for the long-term success of firms. They found that consumers were satisfied by self-service transaction offerings because they are available 24/7, which is beyond the availability of firm employees, and that self-service transacting was perceived to be better than staff-assisted transacting because consumers found it easy to use, it saved time, offered wider geographic availability, and saved money. Selfservice transacting is one of the manifestations of customer touch-point digitalisation and the perceived benefits it provides to consumers are aligned to the convenience, functional value (price), functional value (quality) and monetary sacrifice dimensions of CPV identified by Fandos Roig et al. (2006) and Parente et al. (2015) in a banking context.

2.4.2 Bank selection determinants and digitalisation

As early as the year 2000, Phuong Ta and Yin Har (2000) identified the availability of self-banking facilities as an important factor in the decision to select a bank by consumers in the Singaporean context. Research done by Blankson et al. (2007) identified convenience, which they defined as "the importance of proximity and location of the bank" and competence, defined as representing "issues concerning frustration-free service, security and easy access to money" as factors that are determinants of bank selection by consumers in Ghana, the United States of America, and Taiwan.

More recently, Aregbeyen (2011) conducted a similar study within a Nigerian context and found that the "safety of funds" and the availability of technologybased service(s) are key determinants of consumer bank selection. Hinson et al. (2013) corroborated Blankson et al. (2007)'s findings that convenience is a determinant of bank selection in Ghana. In an Ethiopian context, Agarwal (2017) found that technological factors had a large influence on bank selection intention. A summary of the factors identified by researchers in bank selection determinants research in different contexts is provided in Table 8.

Researcher	Factors identified	Country
	Convenient location of bank and its	Singapore
	branches	
	High interest rate on savings account	
Phuong Ta and Yin	Overall quality of service	
Har (2000)	Low charges on services by bank	
	Low interest on loans	
	Long operating hours	
	Recommendation by parents/friends	
	Availability of self-banking facilities	
	Convenience	Ghana, Taiwan, and
Blankson et al.	Competence	USA
(2007)	Recommendation by peers	
	Free banking (no charges)	
	Safety of funds	Nigeria
	Availability of technology-based services	
Aregbeyen (2011)	Quick/prompt service	
	Good complaint handling	
	Reputation/dependability	
	Convenience	Ghana
	Bank appearance	
	Banking services	
	Third party influences	
Hinson et al.	Electronic services	
(2013)	Financial benefit	
	Employee customer relations	
	Secure feeling	
	Marketing communication	
	Reputation	
	Bank image	Ethiopia
Λ donwol (2017)	Convenience	
- Ayai wai (2017)	Financial factors	
	Service quality	

Table 8: Determinants of bank selection research

Researcher	Factors identified	Country
	Social factors	
	Technology factors	

The research on CPV and determinants of bank selection is related because both are concerned with identifying factors that have an influence on consumer choices. CPV research does this in a broader scope and bank selection determinants research in the narrow scope of banking, this similarity is also borne out by the similarity between the CPV scale items and determinant of banking factors (Table 7 and Table 8). Previous research has found that customer touchpoint digitalisation (through its manifestations) offers convenience, makes technology-based services available, reduces costs of transacting and improves security and access to money for customers (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Meuter et al., 2000; Mostafa, 2020), and thus can be argued to have a positive effect on the dimensions on CPV when it is present and negative effect when absent. Digitalisation is also argued to be a source of value creation for firms (Amit & Zott, 2001).

Despite these links, to the researcher's knowledge, the existing research does not explicitly focus on the influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on CPV or its antecedents.

2.4.3 The Moderation role of age and gender

Previous research into technology adoption in both organisational and consumer contexts and varying in geographical contexts has found that age and gender are significant moderating variables in the relationship between behavioural intention and its antecedents (Magsamen-Conrad et al., 2015; Morris et al., 2005;

Sakkthivel & Ramu, 2018; Venkatesh et al., 2012). Age and gender have also been found to play moderating roles in internet banking and mobile banking adoption research (Merhi et al., 2021; Safeena et al., 2014; Yousafzai & Yani-de-Soriano, 2012)

Making use of digitalised customer touch-points entails using technology, which creates the possibility that age and gender could play a moderating role in the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV. However, according to the researcher's knowledge (based on a thorough review of CPV literature) there are no studies at present that look into the role of age and gender on the formulation of CPV. It is therefore important that an understanding of the role age and gender in the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV be sought.

Previous studies into CPV (Boksberger & Melsen, 2011; Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Hernandez-Ortega et al., 2017; Parente et al., 2015; Sánchez et al., 2006; Sweeney & Soutar, 2001) have thus far been focused on the construct's dimensionality, development of scales and testing of scales in new contexts, and have not focused on investigating the role of age and gender on the formation of CPV.

Should age and gender be found to have a significant moderating role in the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV, the manner in which VAF providers approach their customer touch-point digitalisation journeys may need to take age and gender into account.

2.5 ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK

2.5.1 Theoretical framework

This study made use of the theoretical framework proposed by Sweeney and Soutar (2001) which conceptualised CPV as a multi-dimensional formative construct constituted by functional value (price), functional value (quality), emotional value and social value – as illustrated in Figure 5. However, for the purposes of this study, social value was excluded due to not enough evidence being found in the literature of the benefits of customer touch-point digitalisation that align with social value items/indicators.





2.5.2 Conceptual framework

As per Figure 4, the relationship between CPV and its dimensions is formative, whereas the relationship between the dimensions and the items used to measure them is reflective. This study investigated the influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on the dimensions of CPV by introducing customer touch-point

digitalisation as an antecedent to the dimensions of CPV. The relationship between CPV and its dimensions has already been established by other researchers as being formative (Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Parente et al., 2015; Sánchez et al., 2006; Sweeney & Soutar, 2001; Zeithaml, 1988) and was not the subject of this study. This study only addressed the influence of customer touchpoint digitalisation on CPV by investigating the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and the CPV dimensions applicable to a banking context, as reflected by the research questions and hypotheses employed.

The moderating role of age and gender is examined by introducing them as moderating variables between customer touch-point digitalisation and the three CPV dimensions. Since existing literature has already established the dimensionality of CPV and applicability of these dimensions in banking contexts (Boksberger & Melsen, 2011; El-Adly & Eid, 2015; Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Hernandez-Ortega et al., 2017; Prodanova et al., 2019; Pura, 2005; Sánchez et al., 2006; Sweeney & Soutar, 2001; Zeithaml, 1988), this study did not test the relationship between the dimensions and CPV, only the relationships marked H1 to H6 in Figure 6 were tested. Figure 6 below illustrates the conceptual framework adopted in this study.



Figure 6: Conceptual framework

2.5.3 Hypotheses

2.5.3.1. Customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV hypotheses:

The factors identified in determinants of bank selection research (Agarwal, 2017; Aregbeyen, 2011; Lelissa & Metasebiya, 2017) along with the dimensions and items identified by CPV research in the banking context can be categorised into Functional (price), functional (quality) emotional value, reputation, and social value (Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Parente et al., 2015). The benefits of digitalisation can be closely related to functional (price), functional (quality) and emotional value dimensions of CPV. Therefore, the hypotheses proposed by this study looked into the influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on the three dimensions of CPV.

Customer touch-point digitalisation has been found to offer benefits such as convenience, reduced costs, improved speed, and improved quality of service (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Demirci Orel & Kara, 2014; Meuter et al., 2000). Functional value (price), functional value (quality) and emotional value as dimensions of CPV aim to measure user perceptions on the price, quality and emotional aspects of a product (Sheth et al., 1991; Sweeney & Soutar, 2001), these aspects for which perceptions are being measured by the CPV dimensions are expected to be positively affected by the benefits of customer touch-point digitalisation, namely, improved speed and quality of service to positively affect to positively affect for a product, and reduced costs to positively affect the price aspect. Therefore, the hypotheses proposed by this study are:

H1: Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive influence on Functional value (price)

H2: Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive influence on Functional value (quality)

H3: Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive influence on Emotional value.

2.5.3.2. Age and Gender as moderators

Age and gender have been found to play a significant moderating role in technology adoption research conducted in varying contexts (Magsamen-Conrad et al., 2015; Morris et al., 2005; Sakkthivel & Ramu, 2018; Venkatesh et al., 2012). Age and gender have also been found to play moderating roles in internet

banking and mobile banking adoption research (Merhi et al., 2021; Safeena et al., 2014; Yousafzai & Yani-de-Soriano, 2012). To make use of digitalised customer touch-points, consumers need to make use of technology, this creates the possibility that age and gender may influence the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV.

It is expected that the influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on CPV will reduce with as age increases and therefore be lower in elderly customers and higher in younger customers. This is due to internet banking adoption being higher in younger customers compared to the elderly, age has been found to be a moderating variable in internet banking adoption research (Safeena et al., 2014; Yilmazer, 2005) and digitalised VAF customer touch-points are based on internet and mobile banking technologies.

It is expected that the influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on CPV will be higher amongst males compared to females. This is because males are more likely to be less reliant on facilitating conditions when contemplating the use of a new technology while females are more likely to place more importance on external supporting factors (Morris et al., 2005; Venkatesh et al., 2012) and in the case of digitalised customer touch-points, VAF providers offer little to no support to new digitalised touch-point users.

Therefore, the hypotheses proposed by this study in relation to the moderating role of age and gender are:

H4: Age and Gender will significantly moderate the relationship between Customer touch-point digitalisation and Functional value (price).

H5: Age and Gender will significantly moderate the relationship between Customer touch-point digitalisation and Functional value (quality).

H6: Age and Gender will significantly moderate the relationship between Customer touch-point digitalisation and Emotional value.

2.6 Conclusion of literature review

CPV is a multi-dimensional construct that is used to describe and predict consumer choices in various choice situations, its dimensions include functional, emotional, and social value (Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Hernandez-Ortega et al., 2017; Parente et al., 2015; Sweeney & Soutar, 2001). Several researchers have attempted to measure CPV in a variety of contexts by developing CPV scales such as PERVAL, GLOVAL and MALLVAL. In conceptualising CPV and the scales to measure it, researchers have mostly adopted the view that CPV is a formative construct (Zeithaml et al., 2020). These scales have been found to have items such as convenience, cost, and service quality, these are items that can be positively influenced by the presence of customer touch-point digitalisation. Digitalisation is defined as making use of technology to change the way of doing business from analogue and/or physical to digital, with the aim of improving business outcomes (Armstrong & Lee, 2021; Gartner, n.d).

Determinants of bank selection is a research area that aims to understand the factors which influence the choices consumers make when selecting a bank. It is related to CPV research in that it attempts to predict and describe consumer choices, albeit within the narrow scope of banking and at a brand choice level. Several researchers have found that convenience, cost, service quality and

technology-enabled banking are some of the factors that positively influence consumer bank choices (Agarwal, 2017; Aregbeyen, 2011; Blankson et al., 2007; Hinson et al., 2013; Lelissa & Metasebiya, 2017; Sayani & Miniaoui, 2013). These are factors customer touch-point digitalisation has been found to have a positive influence on (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Demirci Orel & Kara, 2014; Meuter et al., 2000).

Age and gender have been shown to be significant moderating variables in technology adoption as well as internet and mobile banking adoption research (Magsamen-Conrad et al., 2015; Merhi et al., 2021; Morris et al., 2005; Safeena et al., 2014; Sakkthivel & Ramu, 2018; Venkatesh et al., 2012) and to make use of digitalised customer touch-points, consumers need to make use of internet and mobile banking technology. Existing CPV research does not investigate the effect of age and gender on CPV formulation.

CHAPTER 3. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

The research methodology choices that were made to test the hypotheses defined in this study, with the aim of answering the research questions, are described in this chapter.

To describe the research methodology, the research approach, research design, sampling method, design of the research instrument, data collection procedure, techniques used to analyse and interpret the data, as well as ethical considerations are discussed.

3.2 Research approach

This research measures the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation (independent variable) and the dimensions of CPV (dependant variables) and follows a quantitative research approach by studying the relationship between the independent and dependant variables, and it falls within the paradigm of positivism. The selected approach allowed the researcher to evaluate the independent variable (customer touch-point digitalisation) and dependant variables (functional value (price), functional value (quality) and, emotional value) to establish if relationships exist between them and if so, the significance and nature of these relationships. This approach was suitable for this study because quantitative approaches target the measurement and analysis of the relationships between variables (Schindler, 2019).

The research was cross-sectional, it measured the variables at a single point in time. The research problem, questions, types of data and hypotheses framed by this study are aligned to the ontological, epistemological, researcher role and theory-practice relationship assumptions of the quantitative approach as outlined by Khazanchi and Munkvold (2003).

3.3 Research design

A communication-based approach was used by this research to collect primary data, this approach entails surveying cases, by means of questionnaires or personal interviews (Schindler, 2019). This design is suitable to this study due the advantages it offers such as relatively low cost and high speed compared to other options such as observation, and the constraints faced by the researcher such as limited access to participants due to COVID-19 enforced lockdowns, requirement to offer participants the option of anonymity to improve response rates and the wide geographical distribution of potential respondents.

This study also collected comparable data across all participants for analysis to adequately answer the research questions, and surveys enable that (Schindler, 2019). The disadvantages of this approach such as not being able to probe participants further did not impact the ability to adequately address the research questions posed by this study.

3.4 Data collection methods

The data collection method selected for this research is a self-administered online questionnaire. Questionnaires allow for the collection of standardised feedback

from participants which enabled quantitative analysis of the data (Schindler, 2019). Online questionnaires in particular, were chosen for this study because they offer the advantages of being perceived as more anonymous by participants (this may improve response rates), enable fast data collection, enable participants to think about questions, and enable the researcher to reach participants who would otherwise not be accessible (Schindler, 2019) and being self-administered means the participants can complete them from any location and at a time that is suitable for them.

The advantages stated allowed the researcher to collect data from the requisite number of participants. A disadvantage of this data collection method is that only members of the population with internet access are able to participate, however for this study this is not a disadvantage as the constructs in question are mostly applicable to consumers with internet access.

3.5 Population and sample

3.5.1 Population

This research sought to investigate the influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on the dimensions of CPV in the South African VAF market and therefore the population targeted for this research was individuals residing in South Africa (SA) who have the following characteristics:

- Natural persons
- 18 years or older
- Have made use of a VAF product before

TransUnion (2021) reported that there are 2.3 million VAF active accounts in RSA, this number gives an indication of the total number of individuals who are 18 years or older, residing in South Africa and have an active VAF product, which is a good approximation of the population size.

3.5.2 Sample and sampling method

A non-probability sampling method was employed for this study. More specifically, the convenience sampling method in particular was utilised for this research. Convenience sampling is a non-probability sampling method that allows for data to be collected from population members who are conveniently available to provide it (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). This method was selected due to time and budget constrains for the completion of this study, additionally, the exact demographics of the target population are unknown, and this would hinder the use of probability sampling methods. A disadvantage of this method is the lack of generalisability of findings (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). Figures 7 below shows the approximate age demographics of the population based on employment demographics in South Africa, the decision to use employment demographics to approximate the VAF account holder population is because only employed people are eligible to purchase VAF products. The gender proportions are 56% male and 44% female (Statistics South Africa, 2021b).



Figure 7: South African employment by age group (based on Statistics South Africa (2021b))

A final sample of size of 281 was obtained in this study, although small, this number adheres to the variable to participant ratios suggested by Hair et al. (1995) and Field (2013), it also falls within the recommended good sample size by Comrey and Lee (1992). The sample size obtained in this research is also seen as sufficient for partial least squares structural equation modelling (PLS-SEM) analysis to achieve a statistical power of 80% at a significance level of 5% as per the guideline by Cohen (1992) as shown in Table 9.

Number of					Sigr	nificar	nce le	vel				
variables)	10%			5%	5%			1%				
	Minim	num R	2		Minimum R ²			Minimum R ²				
	0.10	0.25	0.50	0.75	0.10	0.25	0.50	0.75	0.10	0.25	0.50	0.75
2	72	26	11	7	90	33	14	8	130	47	19	10
3	83	30	13	8	103	37	16	9	145	53	22	12
4	92	34	15	9	113	41	18	11	158	58	24	14
5	99	37	17	10	122	45	20	12	169	62	26	15
6	106	40	18	12	130	48	21	13	179	66	28	16
7	112	42	20	13	137	51	23	14	188	69	30	18
8	118	45	21	14	144	54	24	15	196	73	32	19
9	124	47	22	15	150	56	26	16	204	76	34	20
10	129	49	24	16	156	59	27	18	212	79	35	21

 Table 9: Sample Size Guide for PLS (adapted from Cohen (1992))

3.6 The research instrument

A 24-question structured questionnaire was used as the research instrument. It was made up of 7 sections, broken down as per the Table 10 below. The questions used were closed ended questions that were answered by means of a 5-point Likert scale. The questions used were adopted and adapted from research done by Sweeney and Soutar (2001), Fandos Roig et al. (2006) and Parente et al. (2015), the instrument is suitable as it contains items (questions) that have been validated by other researchers and were proved to be reflective of the dimensions of CPV that this study aims to examine, the instrument's shortcoming was that some items were worded for transactional banking contexts, this has been addressed by amending the wording to speak to a VAF context without changing the meaning of the items.

The full instrument, along with the cover letter that accompanied it can be found in the appendix section (Appendix B).

The research instrument used in this study was broken down into the sections outlined in Table 10 below.

Section	Data to be collected	Questions
Section 1	Qualifying questions	Q1 to Q3
Section 2	Demographic information	Q4 to Q6
Section 3	Perceived level and use of customer touch- point digitalisation	Q7 to Q8
Section 4	Functional value (Price)	Q9 to Q12
Section 5	Functional value (Quality)	Q13 to Q18
Section 6	Emotional value	Q19 to Q22
Section 7	Perceived Value	Q23 to Q24

3.7 Procedure for data collection

Wits university students and the public were targeted for this study. While links were shared to students and the public via social media platforms, mall and fuel station intercept approach were also used to complement the online channels. All participants needed to meet the criteria of being 18 years or older, South African residents and having used a VAF product before. The research instrument used

is a self-administered online questionnaire and was shared with potential participants using the channels listed below.

1. Email:

Emails were sent to the Wits university student community via the office of the deputy registrar, this was done to reach the student community members who met the participant criteria.

2. LinkedIn post with a link to the research instrument:

A LinkedIn post inviting the researcher's LinkedIn connections to participate was used, the post was then reshared after 8 weeks to encourage participation. This was done with the aim of reaching the researcher's 500+ LinkedIn connections.

3. Social media posts with a link to the research instrument:

The instrument was posted on the researcher's Facebook and Twitter pages as a link, it was also shared on the Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram pages of the researcher's friends.

4. Posters with Quick Response (QR) codes linking to the research instrument:

Printed posters with a QR code were placed at various filling stations, car washes and vehicle accessories shops in the Roodepoort area to reach the establishments' customers. QR codes were also used by the researcher when approaching customers at shopping malls.

5. Direct messages

The link to the data collection instrument was also posted on WhatsApp groups.

The channels used were selected with the aim of reaching as many potential respondents as possible. Participants with whom the instrument was shared as a link accessed the instrument by clicking on the link and being redirected to the instrument on a web browser, those with whom it was shared as a QR code accessed it by scanning the QR code and being redirected to the instrument on a web browser. The instrument was accessible via smartphones, computers, laptops, and tablets. The research invitations used are shown in Appendix C.

The study encouraged participation and reduced non-response bias by doing the following:

- Used a compelling and enticing introduction.
- Ensured the research instrument is accessible on a variety of devices.
- Ensured questions are clear and concise.
- Kept the number of questions to the minimum required to address the research questions posed.
- Ensured the subject line of the email is worded in a manner that allows participants to grasp the essence of the survey and encourage them to participate.
- Offered participants the chance to access the results of the research once it has been completed.

3.8 Data analysis and interpretation

Descriptive analysis of the data was performed, and the following descriptive statistics were measured: mean, standard deviation, skewness, and kurtosis, Chapter 4 presents the results of the descriptive analysis. The PLS-SEM

framework was adopted for analysis of the relationships between the variables in this study due to its suitability for analysis of data that is not normally distributed and for small sample sizes as is the case for the data in this study (Hair et al., 2019; Ringle et al., 2012). Data analysis was done using the SmartPLS 3 (Ringle et al., 2015) and IBM SPSS Statistics 27 tools.

3.9 Validity and reliability

3.9.1 External validity

The convenience sampling method, which is the sampling method employed by this study, may negatively impact the generalisability of the results due to its inability to provide a sample is that is a good representation of the population.

3.9.2 Internal validity

To ensure the internal validity of the research instrument, the questions utilised in this study's research instrument were adopted and adapted from previous research (sources of questions include Sweeney and Soutar (2001), Fandos Roig et al. (2006), and Parente et al. (2015)) . Cross-loadings and the Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio (HTMT) were used to measure discriminant validity and average variance expected (AVE) was used to measure convergent validity. Chapter 4 presents the results from the assessment of the instrument's validity in detail.

3.9.3 Reliability

Factor loadings, Cronbach's alpha rho_A and composite reliability were used to analyse the reliability of the instrument. Chapter 4 presents the results from the assessment of the instrument's reliability in detail.

3.10 Ethical considerations

This research followed all the ethical standards as stipulated by Wits University. Over and above these standards, the researcher made certain that research participants were made aware of the purpose of the study and that they were fully aware of what their participation entails. Participants' responses were only included if they consented to the use of their data after the questionnaire is complete. Participants were allowed to exit the study at any time they wished to. The research does not involve any discrimination based on age, gender, race or ability, nor were any incentives offered to participants.

This research was also not a threat to the physical environment and will not be used to impact the physical environment adversely. The responses received were anonymous, no data that can be used to identify participants was collected, the data collected was stored in a password protected platform (Microsoft Forms) and processed in a manner that is in compliance with the protection of personal information act (POPIA).

Lastly, this research was only conducted after the requisite approval was received from the University of Witwatersrand ethics committee; the committee required that all the minimum ethical standards be met by this research.

CHAPTER 4. PRESENTATION OF RESULTS

4.1 Introduction

The results from analysis of the data collected during the study are presented in this chapter. Firstly, a descriptive analysis of the data, including the respondents' demographic profile (age and gender), is presented. Thereafter the hypothesis testing results are presented, beginning with an assessment of the measurement (outer) model, followed by an evaluation of the structural (inner) model as is common in Partial Least Squares (PLS) analysis and as suggested by Chin (2010). A summary of the results is provided to conclude the chapter. Figure 8 outlines how the chapter has been structured.



Figure 8: Chapter 4 Outline

4.2 Data mapping and coding

For ease of analysis, the responses were mapped and coded as per Table 11 below:

Table 11: Data mapping and coding key

Question on Instrument	Variable Name	Options on Instrument	Coded
	Mapped to		value
		ABSA VAF	1
Which VAE provider did you use for your most recent yobiole		Nedbank Motor Finance Corporation (MFC)	2
purchase?	VAF_Provider	Standard Bank VAF	3
		WesBank	4
		Other	5
		18 – 24 years	1
		25 – 34 years	2
Please indicate your age	Age	35 – 44 years	3
		45 – 54 years	4
		55 – 64 years	5
Please indicate your gender	Condor	Male	1
	Gender	Female	2

Question on Instrument	Variable Name	Options on Instrument	Coded
	Mapped to		value
		High	5
		Slightly High	4
My VAF provider's level of customer touch-point digitalisation is	CTD	Moderate	3
		Slightly Low	2
		Low	1
I'm aware of the digital ways of transacting and servicing that my			
VAF provider offers (e.g., digital contracting, digital statements,	Awareness		
online border letters, online query resolution etc.).			
I MOSTLY use digital channels (mobile app, website, USSD) to	lleage		
transact and get service from my VAF provider	Usage	Strongly Agroo	E
The maintenance (monthly) fees charged by my VAF provider are	EV/D1	Strongly Agree	5
acceptable		Neither Agree per Diaggree	4
The amount I pay for services (e.g., statements, payments, letters,	EV/D2	Somewhat Disagree	2
etc.) is fair		Strongly Disagree	1
The cost I incur to make transactions is acceptable (e.g., parking,	EV/D2		I
transportation, airtime etc.)	FVF3		
The level of service is good for the expense (both monetary and non-	EV/D4		
monetary) it causes me	1 1 4		
The service I receive from my VAF provider as a whole is correct	FVQ1		

Question on Instrument	Variable Name	Options on Instrument	Coded
	Mapped to		value
The quality of the service provided by my VAF provider is consistent	FVQ2		
The level of quality I receive from my VAF provider is acceptable in comparison with other entities	FVQ3		
My VAF provider's processes are fast and reliable	FVQ4		
Overall, the quality of services provided by my VAF provider is very good	FVQ5		
I am able to make transactions and get service (e.g., statements, border letters, account changes) at convenient times	FVQ6		
I am happy with the VAF provider I am using	EV1		
When I interact with my VAF provider I feel relaxed	EV2		
In general I feel at ease concerning my VAF provider	EV3		
My VAF provider handles my information in a confidential and private manner	EV4		
I would make use of my current VAF provider for my future VAF needs	CPV1		
I would recommend my current VAF provider to my friends and family	CPV2		

4.3 Descriptive statistics

The descriptive statistics presented were computed using the SmartPLS 3 (Ringle et al., 2015) and IBM SPSS Statistics 27 tools.

4.3.1 Distribution of the data collected

The data was tested for normality and was found to be non-normally distributed. Both the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests for normality had p values of 0.000 for all the variables, meaning the null hypothesis (the data is not normally distributed) cannot be rejected. Table 12 presents the results of the tests for normality.

		Kolmogorov-Smirnov			Shapiro-Wilk		
Construct	Indicator	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.
Age		0,194	207	0,000	0,911	207	0,000
Gender		0,344	207	0,000	0,636	207	0,000
Awareness		0,281	207	0,000	0,712	207	0,000
CTD		0,201	207	0,000	0,858	207	0,000
Usage		0,287	207	0,000	0,792	207	0,000
	FVP1	0,256	207	0,000	0,880	207	0,000
F\/P	FVP2	0,221	207	0,000	0,899	207	0,000
1 VI	FVP3	0,234	207	0,000	0,894	207	0,000
	FVP4	0,283	207	0,000	0,865	207	0,000
FVQ	FVQ1	0,324	207	0,000	0,791	207	0,000
	FVQ2	0,290	207	0,000	0,826	207	0,000
	FVQ3	0,278	207	0,000	0,853	207	0,000
	FVQ4	0,314	207	0,000	0,823	207	0,000

Table 12: Tests of Normality results

		Kolmogorov-Smirnov			Shapiro-Wilk		
Construct	Indicator	Statistic df Sig.		Statistic	df	Sig.	
	FVQ5	0,308	207	0,000	0,814	207	0,000
	FVQ6	0,295	207	0,000	0,809	207	0,000
EV	EV1	0,266	207	0,000	0,835	207	0,000
	EV2	0,249	207	0,000	0,859	207	0,000
	EV3	0,253	207	0,000	0,851	207	0,000
	EV4	0,218	207	0,000	0,832	207	0,000

4.3.2 Response breakdown

A total of 281 responses were received; of these, 278 (98.93%) gave consent, 208 (74.02%) responses were from respondents who had used a VAF product before, and 207 (73.67%) responses were from respondents who resided in SA. A total of 74 (26.33%) responses were discarded as the respondents did not meet the participant criteria as outlined in chapter 3 of this report. Figure 9 presents the response breakdown in a funnel format.

Due to the anonymous nature in which the research instrument was designed, it is impossible to calculate a survey response rate as it is impossible to determine how many people the instrument reached through the various channels it was distributed.

Survey Response Breakdown						
Responded to survey	281					
Gave consent	278					
Had used a VAF product before	208					
Were South African residents	207					

Figure 9: Survey Response Breakdown

4.3.3 Data screening and validation

The data collected was validated to reduce the risk of invalid conclusions. This involved examining the data and dealing with problems such as missing/invalid data to ensure the data was of good quality before conducting analysis. The following steps were taken to validate the data:

4.3.3.1 Discarding responses from participants who do not meet the sample criteria

Responses from participants who had not used a VAF product before and were not South African residents were removed from the data before analysis. This resulted in the removal of 74 responses, leaving only 207 valid responses to be used for analysis.

4.3.3.2 Checking for missing data

Missing values reduce the amount of data available for analysis, which negatively affects the statistical power of a study and compromises the reliability of its results (Kwak & Kim, 2017). A check for missing values was done, and of the 207 valid responses, none had any missing data.

4.3.4 Respondents' demographic characteristics

Demographic data represents the attributes of the sample being reported on (Schindler, 2019). It is important to evaluate the sample demographics to determine if the sample is representative of the larger population it was drawn from when conducting research; a demographically representative sample is expected to be normally distributed (Field, 2013). The respondent demographic data collected in this study are age and gender.

4.3.4.1. Age



Figure 10: Respondent Age

Figure 10 presents the distribution of the responses by age. 24 respondents (11.59%) were between 18 and 24 years old. 65 respondents (31.40%) were between 25 and 34 years old, 63 respondents (30.43%) were between 35 and 44 years old, 44 respondents (21.26%) were between 45 and 54 years old, 11 respondents (5.31%) were between 55 and 64 years old, and there were no respondents who were 65 years and older.

For respondent age, the Mean = 2.773; the standard deviation is 1.073. The data is skewed (skewness =0.157) towards respondents that are 35 years and older.



4.3.4.2 Gender

Figure 11: Respondent Gender

As shown in Figure 11 above, 105 respondents (50.72%) were males, and 102 respondents (49.72%) were female. The Mean value for respondent gender is 1.493, and the standard deviation value is 0.500. The Skewness value is 0.029, indicating that respondent gender was slightly skewed towards males.

As shown in Table 13 below, the demographic attributes of the sample exhibit a high level of similarity with the employment demographics from Statistics South Africa (2021b), which have been used to approximate the population the sample was drawn from.

		Age		Gender			
	Sample	Population	Difference		Sample	Population	Difference
18 – 24	11.59%	5%	6.59%	Male	50.72%	56%	5.28%
25 – 34	31.40%	28%	3.4%	Female	49.28%	44%	5.28%
35 – 44	30.43%	33%	2.57%				
45 – 54	21.26%	24%	2.74%				
55 – 64	5.31%	10%	4.69%				

Table 13: Sample vs Population Demographics

4.4 Measurement model analysis

As discussed in section 3.9, the validity and reliability of the measurement model are assessed by analysing the factor loadings, construct reliability and construct validity. The subsequent sections present the results of the analysis carried out to evaluate the validity and reliability of the measurement model. The Consistent PLS algorithm and Consistent Bootstrapping with 5000 samples were used for this analysis. SmartPLS 3 (Ringle et al., 2015) was used for the measurement model analysis.

4.4.1 Factor loadings

Factor loadings refer to "the extent to which each of the items in the correlation matrix correlates with the given principal component" (Pett et al., 2003). All of the items in this study had factor loadings that were above the threshold of 0.7 as recommended by Chin (2010); Hair et al. (2019); Hair Jr et al. (2017)

The factor loadings for this study are presented in Table 14 below. The values ranged from 0.701 to 0.979 and were also statistically significant as indicated by p values <0.05 and t values >1.96 (at a significance level of 5%).

	EV	FVP	FVQ	P Value	T Statistic
EV1	0.907			0.000	36.895
EV2	0.883			0.000	36.865
EV3	0.940			0.000	54.656
EV4	0.701			0.000	12.819
FVP1		0.886		0.000	32.784
FVP2		0.833		0.000	20.720
FVP3		0.804		0.000	21.330
FVP4		0.917		0.000	26.820
FVQ1			0.888	0.000	25.810
FVQ2			0.871	0.000	32.393
FVQ3			0.842	0.000	24.024
FVQ4			0.831	0.000	23.228
FVQ5			0.899	0.000	40.826
FVQ6			0.775	0.000	15.812

Table 14: Factor Loading Results

4.4.2 Discriminant validity

Discriminant validity refers to the extent to which a construct is empirically different from other constructs (Hair Jr et al., 2017). Cross-loadings and the Heterotrait-Monotratit Ratio (HTMT) were used to assess discriminant validity in this study.

Cross-loadings assess an indicator/item's outer loading on its associated construct compared to its cross-loading/correlation to other constructs in the model; for the model to have an adequate level of discriminant validity, the items in a model must have outer loading values that are higher for their associated constructs compared to their cross-loading values on other constructs in the
model (Chin, 2010; Hair et al., 2019; Hair Jr et al., 2017). The cross-loading results are presented in Table 15 below. All the indicators in the study had higher loadings for their associated constructs than their cross-loadings on other constructs in the model.

	EV	FVP	FVQ	CTD	P Value	T Statistic
EV1	0.907	0.733	0.812	0.594	0.000	36.895
EV2	0.883	0.688	0.774	0.591	0.000	36.865
EV3	0.940	0.742	0.822	0.633	0.000	54.656
EV4	0.701	0.579	0.628	0.415	0.000	12.819
FVP1	0.725	0.886	0.724	0.546	0.000	32.784
FVP2	0.666	0.833	0.690	0.552	0.000	20.720
FVP3	0.637	0.804	0.670	0.528	0.000	21.330
FVP4	0.718	0.917	0.782	0.617	0.000	26.820
FVQ1	0.766	0.794	0.888	0.574	0.000	25.810
FVQ2	0.783	0.744	0.871	0.590	0.000	32.393
FVQ3	0.731	0.718	0.842	0.588	0.000	24.024
FVQ4	0.744	0.652	0.831	0.638	0.000	23.228
FVQ5	0.818	0.743	0.899	0.630	0.000	40.826
FVQ6	0.672	0.598	0.775	0.607	0.000	15.812
CTD	0.654	0.652	0.708	1.000		

Table 15: Discriminant Validity - Cross-Loadings

HTMT is a measure of similarity between latent variables (Henseler et al., 2015). A construct is considered to have an adequate level of discriminant validity when its HTMT value is less than the recommended threshold of 0.9; the closer to 0, the higher the level of discriminant validity the construct has (Hair et al., 2019; Henseler et al., 2015). All the constructs in this study had HTMT values less than the recommended threshold of 0.9, and the HTMT values ranged from 0.5999 to 0.887. The HTMT ratio results are presented in Table 16 below.

	EV	FVP	FVQ	CTD
EV				
FVP	0.799			
FVQ	0.887	0.830		
CTD	0.652	0.651	0.711	

Table 16: Discriminant Validity - Latent Variable HTMT Ratios

The Fornell-Larcker Criterion was not used as a measure of discriminant validity in this study due to assertions by Henseler et al. (2015) and Hair et al. (2019) that this measure is unsuited for discriminant validity assessment. Henseler et al. (2015) showed that the Fornell-Larcker criterion doesn't perform well when indicator/factor loadings on a construct only have slight differences, which is the case for the reflective indicators/factors in this study.

Based on the evaluation of cross-loadings and HTMT, an adequate level of discriminant validity has been attained in this study.

4.4.3 Reliability

Reliability is defined as the extent to which "a measurement is free of random or unstable error. A measure is reliable to the degree that it supplies consistent results" (Schindler, 2019). The most commonly used methods for establishing reliability are Cronbach's Alpha and Composite Reliability (CR); another, less common measure is rho_A. A construct is considered to have an adequate level of reliability when the composite reliability (CR), Cronbach's alpha, and rho_A values exceed the threshold value of 0.7 (Chin, 2010; Hair et al., 2019; Hair Jr et al., 2017).

Table 17 presents the results for Cronbach's alpha, composite reliability, and rho_A. The Cronbach's alpha values ranged from 0.917 to 0.978, the CR values ranged from 0.920 to 0.978, and the rho_A values ranged from 0.922 to 0.978; these values were also statistically significant as indicated by p values <0.05 and

t values >1.96 (at a significance level of 5%). All the constructs had Cronbach's alpha, CR, and rho_A values above the 0.7 threshold.

	Cronb	ach's Al	pha	rho_A			Composite Reliabil (CR)		
	Cronbach' s Alpha	P Value	T Statistic	rho_A	P Value	T Statistic	CR	P Value	T Statistic
FVP	0.920	0.000	85.462	0.922	0.000	88.235	0.920	0.000	84.031
FVQ	0.940	0.000	100.437	0.942	0.000	108.869	0.941	0.000	102.377
EV	0.917	0.000	64.353	0.931	0.000	85.916	0.920	0.000	71.131

Table 17: Construct	t Reliability	Measures
---------------------	---------------	----------

Based on the evaluation of Cronbach's alpha, composite reliability, and rho_A, an adequate level of reliability has been attained in this study

4.4.4 Convergent validity

Convergent validity is "the extent to which a measure correlates positively with alternative measures of the same construct" and is measured using average variance extracted (AVE). AVE is defined as "the grand mean value of the squared loadings of the indicators associated with the construct (i.e., the sum of the squared loadings divided by the number of indicators)". For a construct to be considered to have an adequate level of convergent validity, its AVE value should not be lower than the recommended threshold of 0.5 (Hair Jr et al., 2017).

The results for AVE are presented in Table 18 below. The AVE values ranged from 0.726 to 0.956, and all values were above the recommended threshold of 0.5. These values were also statistically significant, as indicated by p values <0.05 and t values >1.96 (at a significance level of 5%).

Table 18: Average variance extracted (AVE) results

	Average Variance Extracted (AVE)	P Value	T Statistic
FVP	0.742	0.000	26.534
FVQ	0.726	0.000	22.709
EV	0.744	0.000	23.036

Based on the evaluation of the average variance extracted (AVE), an adequate level of convergent validity has been attained in this study.

4.5 Structural model analysis

The structural model reflects the relationships hypothesised in the conceptual framework. Hair Jr et al. (2017) and Hair et al. (2019) recommend that the structural model be assessed based on the R², Q², f^2 , and the statistical significance of the paths (using t statistics and p values). This recommendation has been followed in this study when assessing the structural model. The Consistent PLS algorithm and Consistent Bootstrapping with 5000 samples were used for this analysis. This was done to address the issue of inflated loadings that arise when using traditional PLS (Hair et al., 2011; Sarstedt et al., 2016).

Firstly, some comments on the use of model fit measures are in a PLS_SEM study made, and then the results of the structural model assessment are presented in the subsequent sections. SmartPLS 3 (Ringle et al., 2015) was used for the measurement model analysis.

4.5.1 Comments on model fit

Hair et al. (2019) advises caution against using model fit measures for PLS-SEM studies as (1) a Thorough assessment of these model fit measures is yet to be carried out, and therefore any thresholds suggested in the literature for model fit measures are still uncertain. (2) The algorithm used in PLS-SEM solutions is not based on reducing the divergence between observed and estimated covariance

matrices; therefore, chi-squared based model fit measures and their extensions that apply to covariance-based structural equation modelling (CB-SEM) do not apply to PLS-SEM. Hair Jr et al. (2017) and Hair et al. (2019) further argue that even bootstrap-based model fit measures such as the standardised root mean square residual (SRMR) should be used with "extreme caution" in PLS-SEM studies.

Other scholars, such as Lohmöller (1989); Rigdon (2012) and Hair Jr et al. (2017), have expressed scepticism regarding the value of the concept of model fit (as applied in CB-SEM) to PLS-SEM due to PLS-SEM's focus being on the interaction between prediction and theory testing (Shmueli, 2010). Lastly, Hair Jr et al. (2017) argue that pursuing model fit measures that fall within the suggested thresholds (for example, by removing indicators) may hurt a PLS-SEM model's predictive ability. Lastly, in PLS-SEM, the goodness-of-fit of a model is assessed in terms of how well it predicts the endogenous variables/constructs (Hair Jr et al., 2017; Sarstedt et al., 2014).

As a result of the above reasons, model fit measures have not been reported for this study.

4.5.2 Structural model predictive power (R²)

The coefficient of determination (\mathbb{R}^2) is "a measure of a model's predictive power and is calculated as the squared correlation between a specific endogenous construct's actual and predicted values. The coefficient represents the exogenous latent variables' combined effects on the endogenous latent variable" (Hair Jr et al., 2017). For a model to have an adequate level of predictive power, the recommended threshold for the \mathbb{R}^2 value is >0.2 (Wong, 2013). For complex models with large samples, using \mathbb{R}^2 to assess a model's predictive power may be fraught with a bias towards models with many exogenous variables, as adding more exogenous variables to a model tends to increase the \mathbb{R}^2 value, in such cases, it is recommended that the adjusted \mathbb{R}^2 measure be used instead (Hair Jr et al., 2017). This study made use of the R^2 as it was not deemed to be complex, and the sample size was not large. Additionally, the differences between the R^2 and adjusted R^2 values were negligible.

The results of R^2 analysis for this study are presented in Table 19. The R^2 values in the study ranged from 0.425 to 0.502; the values were all above the recommended threshold value of 0.2 and were also statistically significant, as indicated by p values <0.05 and t values >1.96. Therefore, the structural model can be deemed to have an adequate level of predictive power.

Table 19: R² values

	R ²	T Statistic	P Value	2.5%	97.5%	Adjusted R ²
EV	0.428	6.433	0.000	0.294	0.555	0.425
FVP	0.425	6.013	0.000	0.289	0.567	0.423
FVQ	0.502	7.768	0.000	0.373	0.623	0.499

4.5.3 Structural model predictive relevance (Q²)

 Q^2 is a measure that indicates a model's "out of sample predictive power" or predictive relevance. Models with predictive relevance can accurately predict data that was not used in model estimation (Stone, 1974, as cited in Hair Jr et al., 2017). A Q^2 value of > 0 is sufficient for a model to be considered to have predictive relevance (Hair Jr et al., 2017).

The results of Q^2 analysis for this study are presented in Table 20. The Q^2 values in the study ranged from 0.315 to 0.359; the values were all above the recommended threshold value of 0. Therefore, the structural model can be deemed to have an adequate level of predictive relevance.

Table 20: Q² Values

	Q ² (=1-SSE/SSO)
EV	0.315
FVP	0.311
FVQ	0.359

4.5.4 Structural model effect sizes (f²)

 f^2 is a measure that's used to determine the substance of effect that an exogenous construct has on an endogenous construct in a model by calculating the change in the R² value when a particular exogenous construct is omitted from the model, this change in R² can be used to gauge whether the omitted construct has a substantial effect on the endogenous construct (Hair et al., 2019; Hair Jr et al., 2017). f^2 values that are <0.02 indicate that there is no effect. f^2 values of >0.02, >0.15 and >0.35 represent small, medium and large effects, respectively (Cohen, 1988, as cited in Hair Jr et al., 2017).

The results of f^2 analysis for this study are presented in Table 21. The f^2 values in the study ranged from 0.740 to 1.007. These are elaborated on in sections 4.5.6 to 4.5.8, where the hypotheses are discussed.

97.5%

1.246

1.309

1.653

	Original Sample (O)	T Statistic	P Value	2.5%
CTD -> EV	0.749	3,517	0.000	0.415

3.225

3.714

Table 21: f² Values

CTD -> FVP

CTD -> FVQ

4.5.5 Path coefficients

0.740

1.007

The results of path coefficient analysis for this study are presented in Table 22. The path coefficient values in the study ranged from 0.652 to 0.708. These are elaborated on in sections 4.5.6 to 4.5.8, where the hypotheses are discussed.

0.001

0.000

0.406

0.594

Table 22: Path Coefficients

	Original Sample (O)	T Statistic	P Value	2.5%	97.5%
CTD -> EV	0.654	12.670	0.000	0.542	0.745
CTD -> FVP	0.652	11.899	0.000	0.537	0.753
CTD -> FVQ	0.708	15.318	0.000	0.611	0.789

4.5.6 H1: Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive influence on Functional value (price)

The results show that CTD has a strong and significant positive relationship with FVP (path coefficient = 0.652, t value = 12.670, p value = 0.000). The results also showed that CTD has a large substantive effect FVP (f^2 effect size = 0.740, t value = 3.225, p value = 0.001).

Therefore, H1 was supported.

4.5.7 H2: Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive influence on Functional value (quality)

The results showed that CTD has a strong and significant positive relationship with FVQ (path coefficient = 0.708, t value = 15.318, p-value = 0.000). The results also showed that CTD has a large substantive effect FVQ (f^2 effect size = 1.007, t value = 3.714, p value = 0.000).

Therefore, H2 was supported.

4.5.8 H3: Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive influence on Emotional value.

The results showed that CTD has a strong and significant positive relationship with EV (path coefficient = 0.654, t value = 12.670, p-value = 0.000). The results also showed that CTD has a large substantive effect FVQ (f^2 effect size = 0.749, t value = 3.517, p value = 0.000).

Therefore, H3 was supported.

Moderation analysis

Moderation refers to a scenario in which the relationship between two constructs is affected by the values of a third variable, which is referred to as a moderator variable. The moderator variable (or construct) alters the strength or even the direction of a relationship between two constructs in the model (Hair Jr et al., 2017). The moderating effects of age and gender were analysed as part of this study. Age moderation was assessed by creating moderating effects on the latent constructs FVP, FVQ and EV, these effects were named Mod_CTD-FVP, Mod_CTD-FVQ and Mod_CTD-EV respectively. The results from the evaluation of the moderating effect of age are presented in Table 25. Multi-group analysis was performed to assess the moderating effect of gender on the relationships in the model. Table 23 and Table 24 present the results of this analysis.

Table 23: PLS Multi-Group Analysis Results

	Path Coefficients- difference (Male - Female)	P Value original 1- tailed (Male vs Female)	P Value new (Male vs Female)
CTD -> EV	0.117	0.105	0.210
CTD -> FVP	-0.014	0.554	0.893
CTD -> FVQ	0.153	0.036	0.073

Table 24: Multi-Group Parametric Test Results

	Path Coefficients- difference (Male - Female)	T Statistic (Male vs Female)	P Value (Male vs Female)
CTD -> EV	0.117	1.254	0.211
CTD -> FVP	-0.014	0.131	0.896
CTD -> FVQ	0.153	1.744	0.083

Table 25: Moderating Effect of Age Results

	Original Sample (O)	T Statistic	P Value
Mod_CTD-EV -> EV	-0.015	0.210	0.834
Mod_CTD-FVP -> FVP	0.036	0.604	0.546
Mod_CTD-FVQ -> FVQ	-0.020	0.277	0.782

4.5.9 H4: Age and Gender will significantly moderate the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and Functional value (price).

The results showed that age and gender do not significantly moderate the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation (CTD) and functional value (price)(FVP).

Age: Path coefficient = 0.036, t value = 0.604, p value = 0.546. The t value for the path coefficient was below the threshold of 1.96 and the p value did not meet the <0.05 threshold.

Gender: Path co-efficient difference = -0.014, t value = 0.131, p value = 0.896. The t value for the path coefficient difference was below the threshold of 1.96 and the p value did not meet the <0.05 threshold.

Therefore, H4 is not supported.

4.5.10 H5: Age and Gender will significantly moderate the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and Functional value (quality).

The results showed that age and gender do not significantly moderate the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation (CTD) and functional value (quality)(FVQ).

Age: Path coefficient = -0.020, t value = 0.277, p value = 0.782. The t value for the path coefficient was below the threshold of 1.96 and the p value did not meet the <0.05 threshold.

Gender: Path co-efficient difference = 0.153, t value = 1.744, p value = 0.083. The t value for the path coefficient difference was below the threshold of 1.96, and the p value did not meet the <0.05 threshold. Therefore, H5 is not supported.

4.5.11 H6: Age and Gender will significantly moderate the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and Emotional value.

The results showed that age and gender do not significantly moderate the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation (CTD) and emotional value (EV).

Age: Path coefficient = -0.015, t value = 0.210, p value = 0.834. The t value for the path coefficient was below the threshold of 1.96 and the p value did not meet the <0.05 threshold.

Gender: Path co-efficient difference = 0.117, t value = 1.254, p value = 0.211). – the t value for the path coefficient difference was below the threshold of 1.96 and the p value did not meet the <0.05 threshold.

Therefore, H6 is not supported.

4.6 Summary of the results

207 valid responses were analysed, the demographics showed that there was an even split among males and females (50.72% and 49.28% respectively). The ages of respondents ranged from the 18 - 24 to the 54 - 64 categories, with the most respondents (65) falling into the 24 - 35 age category. The data was revealed to be non-normally distributed.

Measurement and structural model analysis was conducted on the data collected as is common practice in PLS-SEM studies. The measurement model analysis assessed the reliability and validity of the model, and both were found to be adequate. In assessing the structural model, R^2 , Q^2 , f^2 and path coefficients were the measures that were used. Based on the data collected, it was found that customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive influence on functional value (quality), functional value (price) and emotional value. However, there was no evidence to support that age and gender moderate any of these relationships. The results of the hypotheses testing are outlined in Table 26.

	Hypothesis	Outcome
H1	Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive	Supported
	influence on Functional value (price)	
H2	Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive	Supported
	influence on Functional value (quality)	
H3	Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive	Supported
	influence on Emotional value	oupported
	Age and Gender will significantly moderate the	
H4	relationship between Customer touch-point digitalisation	Not Supported
	and Functional value (price).	
	Age and Gender will significantly moderate the	
H5	relationship between Customer touch-point digitalisation	Not Supported
	and Functional value (quality).	
	Age and Gender will significantly moderate the	
H6	relationship between Customer touch-point digitalisation	Not Supported
	and Emotional value	

The model as designed on the SmartPLS application is shown in Figure 12 below.



Figure 12: SmartPLS Model

CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION OF THE RESULTS

5.1 Introduction

This chapter discusses and explains the results of the study that were presented in Chapter 4. The main problem this study undertook to address was the lack of clarity on whether customer touch-point digitalisation influences the CPV of a VAF product in the SA market. The results obtained from this research are integrated with the existing literature to generate meaningful insights within the context of the objective, problem, and questions outlined by this research. In this chapter the demographic characteristics of the research participants as they pertain to the research questions are discussed, the outcomes of hypothesis testing and the implications of the results are then delved into. To conclude the chapter, a synopsis of the results and discussion is stipulated.

5.2 Respondents' demographic characteristics

5.2.1 Age and Gender's influence on the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV

This study aimed to investigate whether age and gender significantly moderate the relationship between the dimensions of CPV, namely, functional value (price), functional value (quality) and emotional value and customer touch-point digitalisation and in the South African VAF market context.

The results from the study were that age and gender do not play a significant moderating role in the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV in the South African VAF market. This means that regardless of gender or age, South African consumers who view their VAF provider's level of customer touch-point digitalisation as high will likely ascribe a high CPV to their VAF provider and vice versa, meaning that the benefits of digitalisation are experienced uniformly across male and females of different ages in the SA VAF context.

This study's findings are in contrast with previous research into technology adoption in both organisational and consumer contexts and internet and mobile banking adoption, which has found that age and gender are significant moderating variables in the relationship between behavioural intention and its antecedents (Magsamen-Conrad et al., 2015; Merhi et al., 2021; Morris et al., 2005; Safeena et al., 2014; Sakkthivel & Ramu, 2018; Venkatesh et al., 2012; Yilmazer, 2005). These studies into technology, internet and mobile banking adoption are the only basis to which the findings from this study can be compared to, as previous studies into CPV (Boksberger & Melsen, 2011; Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Hernandez-Ortega et al., 2017; Parente et al., 2015; Sánchez et al., 2006; Sweeney & Soutar, 2001) have so far been focused on the construct's dimensionality, development of scales and testing of scales in new contexts, and have not focused on whether age and gender have a significant influence on the formation of CPV.

A possible explanation for these results is that the benefits derived from the digitalisation of customer touch-points, such as reduced costs, convenience, reduced errors, improved service quality and improved security (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Demirci Orel & Kara, 2014; Mostafa, 2020; Singh & Srivastava, 2018) are applicable to all consumers across the age and gender continuum. Additionally, the findings from determinants of bank selection research did not identify the digitalisation-related factors as being age or gender-dependent. The findings emanating from this research are aligned with those from research done by Sharma et al. (2015) and Kim (2016), who investigated whether age and gender are moderating variables internet banking and hotel tablet usage

adoption respectively, and found that in their research contexts, there was no significant moderating role played by both age and gender.

5.3 Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive

influence on Functional value (price)

The results showed that there is evidence that customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive influence on the CPV dimension functional value (price). This implies that as the level of customer touch-point, as perceived by VAF customers, increases, so too does the level of functional value (price) that customers in the South African market imbue a VAF provider's offerings with. The R² value of 0.426 suggests that 42.6% of the variance in functional value (price) can be attributed to customer touch-point digitalisation as per the conceptual model proposed. The path coefficient value of 0.652 also corroborates this, it signifies a strong positive relationship between the customer touch-point digitalisation and functional value (price) was the weakest, only slightly weaker than the relationship with emotional value.

This is also reflected in that 76% of respondents who reported that their VAF provider's level of digitalisation is high or slightly high agreed (strongly or somewhat) that the amount they pay for services is fair, compared to 6% of those who reported that their VAF provider's level of digitalisation was either slightly low or low. A large proportion (75%) of respondents who viewed their VAF provider's level of digitalisation as high or slightly high agreed (strongly or somewhat) that the monthly maintenance fees charged by their VAF provider are acceptable, compared to 3% of those who reported that their VAF provider that their slightly low or low.

A possible explanation for this is that digitalisation reduces the cost of transacting for both firms and customers and positively influences customer loyalty and satisfaction by making transacting more convenient and cheaper (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Mostafa, 2020). Along with the fact that low charges on services, availability of self-banking facilities, convenience and electronic services play a key role in the bank choices consumers make, as per bank selection determinants studies (Aregbeyen, 2011; Blankson et al., 2007; Phuong Ta & Yin Har, 2000).

Therefore, the findings emanating from this study regarding the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and functional value (price) are consistent with findings from prior research.

5.4 Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive

influence on Functional value (quality)

The results showed that customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive influence on the CPV dimension functional value (quality). Meaning that as the level of customer touch-point, as perceived by VAF customers, increases, so too does the level of functional value (quality) that customers in the South African market imbue a VAF provider's offerings with. The R² value of 0.502 suggests that 50.2% of the variance in functional value (quality) can be attributed to customer touch-point digitalisation as per the conceptual model proposed. This is also corroborated by the path coefficient value of 0.708, which signifies a strong positive relationship between the customer touch-point digitalisation and functional value (quality) was the strongest.

This is also reflected in that 100% of respondents who reported that their VAF provider's level of digitalisation is high or slightly high agreed (strongly or somewhat) that their VAF provider's processes are fast and reliable, compared to 18% of those who reported that their VAF provider's level of digitalisation was either slightly low or low. A large proportion (86%) of respondents who viewed

their VAF provider's level of digitalisation as high or slightly high agreed (strongly or somewhat) that the level of quality they receive from their VAF provider is "acceptable in comparison with other entities", compared to 18% of those who reported that their VAF provider's level of digitalisation was either slightly low or low. 93% of respondents whose VAF providers' digitalisation level is high or slightly high agreed (strongly or somewhat) that they can make transactions and get service at convenient times compared to 18% of those who reported low or slightly low digitalisation levels.

A possible explanation for this is that digitalisation reduces errors, improves service quality, enhances service speed and allows consumers to transact at any time and location (Demirci Orel & Kara, 2014; Mostafa, 2020; Singh & Srivastava, 2018). Along with the fact that convenience, quick or prompt service, electronic services and service quality play a vital role in the bank choices consumers make, as per bank selection determinants studies done in other African countries (Agarwal, 2017; Aregbeyen, 2011; Hinson et al., 2013).

Therefore, the findings emanating from this study regarding the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and functional value (quality) are consistent with findings from prior research.

5.5 Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive

influence on Emotional value

The results showed that there is evidence that customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive influence on the CPV dimension emotional value. This implies that as the level of customer touch-point, as perceived by VAF customers, increases, so too does the level of emotional value that customers in the South African market imbue a VAF provider's offerings with. The R² value of 0.428 means that 42.8% of the variance in emotional value is attributable to customer touch-point digitalisation as per the conceptual model proposed. The path

coefficient value of 0.654 also supports this, it signifies a strong positive relationship between the customer touch-point digitalisation and emotional value constructs.

This is also reflected in that 90% of respondents who reported that their VAF provider's level of digitalisation is high or slightly high agreed (strongly or somewhat) that they are happy with the VAF provider they are using, compared to 16% of those who reported that their VAF provider's level of digitalisation was either slightly low or low. A large proportion (79%) of respondents who viewed their VAF provider's level of digitalisation as high or slightly high agreed (strongly or somewhat) that their VAF provider handles their information in a confidential and private manner, compared to 24% of those who reported that their VAF provider's level of digitalisation was either slightly low or low.

These results can be possibly explained by prior research, which found that digitalisation improves security, saves time and is perceived to be better than employee assisted transacting (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Meuter et al., 2000; Mostafa, 2020). Along with the finding that easy access to money, security, and "frustration-free" service and play a vital role in the bank choices consumers make, as per bank selection determinants studies (Blankson et al., 2007).

Therefore, the findings emanating from this study regarding the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and emotional value are consistent with findings from prior research.

5.6 Conclusion of results discussion

This study sought to assess whether customer touch-point digitalisation has an influence on CPV in the South African VAF market. The moderating effect of age and gender on the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and the dimensions of CPV was also investigated to determine whether it is aligned with findings from technology adoption research.

The results found that customer touch-point digitalisation does have a strong and significant influence on all the dimensions of CPV. This influence being the strongest on functional value (quality) and weakest on functional value (price). Respondents who reported a high level of digitalisation tended to agree with positive statements relating to their VAF provider's functional (price), functional (quality) and emotional value dimensions.

These results can be explained by findings from previous research into the benefits of digital customer touch-points and determinants of bank selection, which revealed that digitalisation offers benefits such as reducing transaction costs and errors, providing convenience, improving service quality, speed, and security. These benefits are aligned with important factors that affect bank selection choices by consumers, such as the desire for convenience, security, prompt and accurate service and low costs. These results imply that VAF providers can achieve benefits over and above cost savings from investing in digitalising their customer touch-points and that touch-point digitalisation could potentially give them the edge over competitors who have not digitalised their customer touch-points.

The results also showed that age and gender do not significantly moderate the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and the dimensions of CPV. This was contrary to findings from technology adoption research and can possibly be explained by the benefits derived from the digitalisation of customer touch-points, such as reduced costs, convenience, reduced errors, improved service quality and improved security (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Demirci Orel & Kara, 2014; Mostafa, 2020; Singh & Srivastava, 2018) being generally applicable to all consumers across the age and gender continuum.

CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 Introduction

The study sought to assess whether customer touch-point digitalisation has an influence on CPV in the South African VAF market. This chapter presents a conclusion of the study with regards to the research objectives defined in the beginning of this report. Recommendations and suggestions for further research are also provided.

6.2 Conclusions:

6.2.1 Research question 1: Does customer touch-point digitalisation have an influence on customer perceived value in the VAF product context?

The study found evidence that customer touch-point digitalisation does have a strong positive influence on CPV in the South African VAF context. The relationship was assessed via the functional value (price), functional value (quality) and emotional value dimensions of CPV that were outlined by previous CPV research (Fandos Roig et al., 2006; Parente et al., 2015; Sweeney & Soutar, 2001). These findings are consistent with and can be explained by findings from previous research into the benefits of digitalisation and determinants of bank selection, which revealed that digitalisation offers benefits such as reducing transaction costs and errors, providing convenience, improving service quality, speed, and security.

These benefits are aligned with important factors that affect bank selection choices by consumers, such as the desire for convenience, security, prompt and accurate service and low costs. These results imply that VAF providers can achieve benefits over and above cost savings from investing in digitalising their customer touch-points, and that touch-point digitalisation could potentially give them an advantage over competitors who have not digitalised their customer touch-points. This study has also managed to contribute to the theory on CPV and digital business by providing empirical evidence that was previously scant on the nature of the relationship between digitalisation of customer touch-points and CPV, and thus building an empirical link between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV.

6.2.2 Research question 2: Do age and gender moderate the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV and its dimensions?

The study found evidence that age and gender do not significantly moderate the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and any of the CPV dimensions in the South African VAF context. Age and gender have long been seen as moderators in technology adoption research and technology usage-related research (Magsamen-Conrad et al., 2015; Morris et al., 2005; Sakkthivel & Ramu, 2018; Venkatesh et al., 2012), but the results from this study revealed that in the context of customer touch-point digitalisation's influence on VAF products' CPV, these two variables are not significant moderators.

A possible explanation for these results is that the benefits derived from the digitalisation of customer touch-points, such as reduced costs, convenience, reduced errors, improved service quality and improved security (Ahmad & Al-Zu'bi, 2011; Demirci Orel & Kara, 2014; Mostafa, 2020; Singh & Srivastava, 2018) are applicable to all consumers across the age and gender continuum. These results were consistent with those from research done by Sharma et al. (2015)

and Kim (2016), who investigated the moderating effect of age and gender in internet banking and hotel tablet usage adoption respectively, and found that in their research contexts, there was no significant moderating role played by both age and gender.

6.3 Implications and recommendations

Prevailing conditions in the operating environment present opportunities and threats to VAF providers. Opportunities such as increasing internet access, an increasing level of ecommerce usage, increasing levels of digital banking adoption and changing consumer mobility needs and habits (Labuschagne, 2021; Moyo, 2021; Schmidt et al., 2019; Standard Bank South Africa, 2020; We are Social, 2021), along with threats such as contracting economic growth, growing unemployment, decreasing vehicle sales and a highly competitive environment (NAAMSA, 2021b; Statistics South Africa, 2020a, 2021a, 2021b) are challenging how VAF providers operate and deliver value to customers.

The results from this study imply that there is value to be derived for both VAF providers and customers from the digitalisation of customer touch-points.

6.3.1 For VAF providers:

1. VAF providers that have relatively high levels of customer touch-point digitalisation should update their marketing messaging and communication to consumers to highlight this and the value that consumers can derive as a result. The findings from this study show that consumers are likely to assign a higher level of CPV to VAF providers with higher levels of customer touch-point digitalisation and vice versa, this implies that customers would choose to purchase VAF products from them instead of competitors. This recommendation is also supported by findings from bank switching behaviour studies, which found that better advertising

by competitors is a reason why consumers switch banks (Zhao et al., 2021).

- VAF providers should develop a customer touch-point digitalisation rating that they can use to compare themselves against competitors and customer expectations with.
- VAF providers that are starting their digital transformation journeys should prioritise digitalising customer touch-points as a starting point as it is an area that can produce tangible benefits to both the firms and their customers.
- 4. When assessing and prioritising initiatives for investment, VAF providers should incorporate a criterion that assesses whether initiatives will contribute towards the digitalisation of one or more customer touch-points.
- 5. To maximise the positive effects that result from the influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on CPV, VAF providers should educate their customers on the value of using digital touch-points and they should encourage their customers who are not using digital touch-points to switch to them by introducing incentives such as loyalty points or discounts for customers who meet certain digital touch-point usage targets.

6.3.2 For consumers:

Consumers should incorporate a VAF provider's level of customer touch-point digitalisation as a criterion when selecting which VAF provider to use when looking to purchase a vehicle. All other factors equal, the results from this research reveal that a consumer is expected to find more value from a VAF provider who has a higher level of customer touch-point digitalisation relative to competitors.

6.4 Limitations of the study

6.4.1 Sampling method limitations

The research may not be generalisable due to the sampling method selected (convenience sampling).

6.4.2 Data collection method limitations

The study was constrained by limitations that are inherent to the questionnaire data collection method employed. These are (as per Schindler (2019)):

- Only a limited number of questions can be asked.
- It's not possible to ask participants probing or clarifying questions.

These limitations were addressed by careful phrasing of the questions informed by prior research.

6.5 Suggestions for further research

6.5.1 Address sampling limitations

This study utilised a non-probability sampling method, namely, convenience sampling, this sampling method limits the ability to generalise the findings obtained. A recommendation to address the sampling method limitations is that a future study be done making using a probability sampling method to improve the generalisability of the findings. Another recommendation is for a larger sample size be utilised to improve the validity of the findings.

6.5.2 Investigate whether experience influences the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV

Venkatesh et al. (2012) define experience as "the passage of time from the initial use of a technology by an individual" and found experience to be a moderating variable in the relationship between behavioural intention and its antecedents and behavioural use and its antecedents in their UTAUT2 theory. Research should be conducted to investigate whether a consumer's level of experience with digital technologies would influence the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation.

6.5.3 Test findings in different contexts

The context of a study matters because new contexts can lead to significant changes in theories, such as causing relationships that were originally theorised as insignificant to become significant, affecting the direction of relationships, and creating new relationships between variables (Alvesson & Kärreman, 2007; Johns, 2006). Research should be done to test the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV in different contexts similar to how CPV scales have been tested in different contexts such as other industries and locations. This will grow the body of knowledge on how digitalisation impacts CPV.

REFERENCES

- Absa Group Limited. (2021). Integrated Report 2020. <u>https://www.absa.africa/content/dam/africa/absaafrica/pdf/2020/absa-integrated-report.pdf</u>
- Agarwal, P. (2017). Influencing factors for bank selection intention in Ethiopia: A study conducted in Arba Minch Town. *Business and Management Research Journal*, 7(2), 10-16.
- Ahmad, A., & Al-Zu'bi, H. A. (2011). E-banking functionality and outcomes of customer satisfaction: an empirical investigation. *International journal of marketing studies*, 3(1), 50-65.
- Alvesson, M., & Kärreman, D. (2007). Constructing mystery: Empirical matters in theory development. *Academy of management review*, 32(4), 1265-1281.
- Amit, R., & Zott, C. (2001). Value creation in E-business. *Strategic Management Journal*, 22(6-7), 493-520. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.187</u>
- Aregbeyen, O. (2011). The determinants of bank selection choices by customers: recent and extensive evidence from Nigeria. *International journal of business and social science*, *2*(22), 276-288.

Armstrong, B., & Lee, G. J. (2021). Digital Busines. Silk Route Press

- Arne, F., Koller, M., Zauner, A., & Teller, C. (2017). Multiple value dimensions spill-over—An experimental approach in a consumption system comprising a product and a service. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 16(4), 352-362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.1634</u>
- Blankson, C., Ming-Sung Cheng, J., & Spears, N. (2007). Determinants of banks selection in USA, Taiwan and Ghana. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 25(7), 469-489. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/02652320710832621</u>

- Boksberger, P. E., & Melsen, L. (2011). Perceived value: a critical examination of definitions, concepts and measures for the service industry. *Journal of services marketing*.
- Brunetti, M., Ciciretti, R., & Djordjevic, L. (2016, 2016/10/01/). The determinants of household's bank switching. *Journal of Financial Stability, 26*, 175-189. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfs.2016.08.004</u>
- Camarate, J., & Maritz, C. (2018). A marketplace without boundaries 2.0. <u>https://www.pwc.co.za/en/assets/pdf/strategyand-digital-disruption-in-sa-banking-sector.pdf</u>
- Chin, W. W. (2010). How to write up and report PLS analyses. In *Handbook of partial least squares* (pp. 655-690). Springer.
- Cohen, J. (1988). The effect size. *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*, 77-83.

Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. *Psychological bulletin, 112*(1), 155.

- Comrey, A., & Lee, H. (1992). Interpretation and application of factor analytic results. *Comrey AL, Lee HB. A first course in factor analysis,* 2, 1992.
- Deloitte. (2019). Toward a mobility operating system: Establishing a lingua fraca for urban transportation. <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/de/Documents/humancapital/review-25-mobility-operating-system.pdf</u>
- Demirci Orel, F., & Kara, A. (2014, 2014/03/01/). Supermarket self-checkout service quality, customer satisfaction, and loyalty: Empirical evidence from an emerging market. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 21(2), 118-129. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2013.07.002
- El-Adly, M. I. (2019, 2019/09/01/). Modelling the relationship between hotel perceived value, customer satisfaction, and customer loyalty. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 50*, 322-332. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2018.07.007</u>
- El-Adly, M. I., & Eid, R. (2015). Measuring the perceived value of malls in a non-Western context: the case of the UAE. *International Journal of Retail* &

Distribution Management, 43(9), 849-869. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJRDM-04-2014-0045</u>

- El-Adly, M. I., & Eid, R. (2016, 2016/07/01/). An empirical study of the relationship between shopping environment, customer perceived value, satisfaction, and loyalty in the UAE malls context. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 31*, 217-227. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.04.002
- Fandos Roig, J. C., Sanchez Garcia, J., Moliner Tena, M. A., & Llorens Monzonis, J. (2006). Customer perceived value in banking services. International Journal of Bank Marketing, 24(5), 266-283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/02652320610681729</u>
- Field, A. (2013). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics. sage.
- FirstRand. (2020). Annual Integrated Report 2020. <u>https://www.firstrand.co.za/media/investors/annual-reporting/firstrand-annual-integrated-report-2020.pdf</u>
- FirstRand Limited. (2021). *FirstRand Annual Integrated Report 2021*. <u>https://www.firstrand.co.za/investors/annual-reporting/</u>
- Fischer, M., Kramer, N., Maurer, I., & Mickelson, R. (2021). A turning point for US auto dealers: The unstoppable electric car. <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/automotive-and-assembly/our-insights/a-turning-point-for-us-auto-dealers-the-unstoppable-electric-car</u>
- Garg, R., Rahman, Z., & Qureshi, M. N. (2014). Measuring customer experience in banks: scale development and validation. *Journal of Modelling in Management, 9*(1), 87-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JM2-07-2012-0023</u>
- Gartner. (n.d). Information Technology Gartner Glossary. Gartner. https://www.gartner.com/en/information-technology/glossary/digitalization
- Ghazi Zouari, & Abdelhedi, M. (2021). Customer satisfaction in the digital era: evidence from Islamic banking. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship, 10*(9). <u>https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1186/s13731-021-</u> <u>00151-x</u>

- Hair, J. F., Anderson, R. E., Tatham, R. L., & Black, W. C. (1995). Multivariate data analysis new york. *NY: Macmillan*.
- Hair, J. F., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2011, 2011/04/01). PLS-SEM: Indeed a Silver Bullet. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice, 19*(2), 139-152. https://doi.org/10.2753/MTP1069-6679190202
- Hair, J. F., Risher, J. J., Sarstedt, M., & Ringle, C. M. (2019). When to use and how to report the results of PLS-SEM. *European Business Review*, 31(1), 2-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EBR-11-2018-0203</u>
- Hair Jr, J. F., Hult, G. T. M., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2017). A primer on partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM) (2nd ed.). Sage publications.
- Harris, M., Cox, K. C., Musgrove, C. F., & Ernstberger, K. W. (2016). Consumer preferences for banking technologies by age groups. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 34(4), 587-602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-04-2015-0056</u>
- Henseler, J., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2015, 2015/01/01). A new criterion for assessing discriminant validity in variance-based structural equation modeling. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 43(1), 115-135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-014-0403-8</u>
- Hernandez-Ortega, B., Aldas-Manzano, J., Ruiz-Mafe, C., & Sanz-Blas, S. (2017). Perceived value of advanced mobile messaging services. *Information Technology & People, 30*(2), 324-355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-01-2014-0017</u>
- Hinson, R., Osarenkhoe, A., & Okoe, A. F. (2013). Determinants of bank selection: A study of undergraduate students in the University of Ghana. *Journal of Service Science and Management, 6*(3), 197--205. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/jssm.2013.63021</u>
- Jarvis, C. B., MacKenzie, S. B., & Podsakoff, P. M. (2003). A Critical Review of Construct Indicators and Measurement Model Misspecification in Marketing and Consumer Research. *Journal of consumer research*, 30(2), 199-218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/376806</u>
- Johns, G. (2006). The essential impact of context on organizational behavior. *Academy of management review, 31*(2), 386-408.

- Khazanchi, D., & Munkvold, B. E. (2003, 6-9 Jan. 2003). On the rhetoric and relevance of IS research paradigms: a conceptual framework and some propositions. 36th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 2003. Proceedings of the,
- Kim, J. (2016). An extended technology acceptance model in behavioral intention toward hotel tablet apps with moderating effects of gender and age. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 28(8), 1535-1553. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-06-2015-0289</u>
- Kurz, M. (2017). On the formation of capital and wealth: IT, monopoly power and rising inequality. <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3014361</u>
- Kurznack, L., Schoenmaker, D., & Schramade, W. (2021). A model of long-term value creation. *Journal of Sustainable Finance & Investment*, 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20430795.2021.1920231</u>
- Kwak, S. K., & Kim, J. H. (2017, 8). Statistical data preparation: management of missing values and outliers. *Korean J Anesthesiol*, 70(4), 407-411. <u>https://doi.org/10.4097/kjae.2017.70.4.407</u>
- Labuschagne, H. (2021, 17 March 2021). The "monster business" behind the FNB mobile app. *My broadband*. <u>https://mybroadband.co.za/news/banking/389622-the-monster-business-behind-the-fnb-mobile-app.html</u>
- Lelissa, T., & Metasebiya, L. (2017). *Determinants of bank selection choices and customer loyalty the case of Ethiopian banking sector*. SSRN. <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2967327</u>
- Lohmöller, J.-B. (1989). Predictive vs. Structural Modeling: PLS vs. ML. In J.-B. Lohmöller (Ed.), *Latent Variable Path Modeling with Partial Least Squares* (pp. 199-226). Physica-Verlag HD. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-52512-4_5</u>
- Magsamen-Conrad, K., Upadhyaya, S., Joa, C. Y., & Dowd, J. (2015, 2015/09/01/). Bridging the divide: Using UTAUT to predict multigenerational tablet adoption practices. *Computers in Human Behavior, 50*, 186-196. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.03.032

- Merhi, M., Hone, K., Tarhini, A., & Ameen, N. (2021). An empirical examination of the moderating role of age and gender in consumer mobile banking use: a cross-national, quantitative study. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 34(4), 1144-1168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-03-2020-0092</u>
- Meuter, M. L., Ostrom, A. L., Roundtree, R. I., & Bitner, M. J. (2000, Sat Jul 01 00:00:00 SAST 2000). Self-Service Technologies: Understanding Customer Satisfaction with Technology-Based Service Encounters. 64(3), 50-64.
- Morris, M. G., Venkatesh, V., & Ackerman, P. L. (2005). Gender and age differences in employee decisions about new technology: an extension to the theory of planned behavior. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 52(1), 69-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TEM.2004.839967</u>
- Mostafa, R. B. (2020). Mobile banking service quality: a new avenue for customer value co-creation. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, *38*(5), 1107-1132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-11-2019-0421</u>
- Moyo, A. (2021, 04 March 2021). FNB snaps up record 6m digitally-active users. *IT web*. <u>https://www.itweb.co.za/content/6GxRKMYJKljqb3Wj</u>
- NAAMSA. (2019). Industry vehicle sales, production, export and import data : 2011 - 2021. NAAMSA. <u>https://naamsa.net/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2020/06/https</u> cdn.lightstoneauto.co .za NAAMSA 2 019 4thQuarter 2019 4thQuarter IndustryVehicleSales.pdf
- NAAMSA. (2021a). Industry vehicle sales, production, export and import data : 2012 2022. <u>https://naamsa.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Industry-Vehicle-Sales-2012-2022-Actual-and-Projections.pdf</u>
- NAAMSA. (2021b, 01 June 2021). *naamsa releases May 2021 new vehicle stats* <u>https://naamsa.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/20210601-naamsa-Media-Release-May-2021-sales.pdf</u>
- Narteh, B. (2013). Key determinant factors for retail bank switching in Ghana. International Journal of Emerging Markets, 8(4), 409-427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJoEM-01-2011-0004</u>

National Automobile Dealers Association. (2021, 1 June 2021). New vehicle sales in South Africa continue to outpace forecasts <u>https://cdn.nada.co.za/NADA/Articles/10153/FINAL_01June2021_NADA</u> %20May%202021%20sales%20comment.pdf

- Nedbank Group. (2020). Unaudited Interim Results for The Six Months Ended 30 June 2020. <u>https://www.nedbank.co.za/content/dam/nedbank/site-</u> assets/AboutUs/Information%20Hub/Financial%20Results/Interim%20Re sults/2020/2020%20Nedbank%20Group%20Interim%20Results%20Boo klet%20(single%20page).pdf
- Parente, E. S., Costa, F. J., & Leocádio, A. L. (2015). Conceptualization and measurement of customer perceived value in banks. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 33(4), 494-509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-04-2014-0051</u>
- Petrick, J. F. (2002, 2002/06/01). Development of a Multi-Dimensional Scale for Measuring the Perceived Value of a Service. *Journal of Leisure Research, 34*(2), 119-134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2002.11949965</u>
- Pett, M. A., Lackey, N. R., & Sullivan, J. J. (2003). *Making sense of factor analysis: The use of factor analysis for instrument development in health care research.* sage.
- Phuong Ta, H., & Yin Har, K. (2000). A study of bank selection decisions in Singapore using the Analytical Hierarchy Process. *International Journal* of Bank Marketing, 18(4), 170-180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/02652320010349058</u>
- Pieterse, H. C. (2009). The National Credit Act of South Africa and the motor finance sector. *Unpublished Masters Thesis. University of South Africa. South Africa.*
- Prodanova, J., Ciunova-Shuleska, A., & Palamidovska-Sterjadovska, N. (2019). Enriching m-banking perceived value to achieve reuse intention. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning, 37*(6), 617-630. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/MIP-11-2018-0508</u>
- Pura, M. (2005). Linking perceived value and loyalty in location-based mobile services. *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal*, 15(6), 509-538. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09604520510634005</u>

- PwC. (2020). The future of financial services. <u>https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/financial-services/pdf/pwc-the-future-of-financial-services.pdf</u>
- PwC. (2021). South Africa Major Banks Analysis. <u>https://www.pwc.co.za/en/assets/pdf/major-banks-analysis-december-</u> <u>2020.pdf</u>
- Rigdon, E. E. (2012, 2012/10/01/). Rethinking Partial Least Squares Path Modeling: In Praise of Simple Methods. *Long Range Planning, 45*(5), 341-358. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2012.09.010</u>
- Ringle, C. M., Sarstedt, M., & Straub, D. W. (2012). Editor's Comments: A Critical Look at the Use of PLS-SEM in "MIS Quarterly". *MIS Quarterly*, 36(1), iii-xiv. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/41410402</u>
- Ringle, C. M., Wende, S., & Becker, J.-M. (2015). *SmartPLS 3.* In Boenningstedt: SmartPLS GmbH. <u>http://www.smartpls.com</u>
- Safeena, R., Kammani, A., & Date, H. (2014, 2014/02/01). Assessment of Internet Banking Adoption: An Empirical Analysis. *Arabian Journal for Science and Engineering,* 39(2), 837-849. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13369-013-0707-x
- Sakkthivel, A. M., & Ramu, N. (2018). Investigating the gender influence on technology adoption model towards smart phones - evidences from emerging economies. *International Journal of Business Excellence*, 16(1), 35-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/ijbex.2018.094570</u>
- Sánchez, J., Callarisa, L., Rodríguez, R. M., & Moliner, M. A. (2006, 2006/06/01/). Perceived value of the purchase of a tourism product. *Tourism Management,* 27(3), 394-409. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2004.11.007</u>
- Sarstedt, M., Hair, J. F., Ringle, C. M., Thiele, K. O., & Gudergan, S. P. (2016, 2016/10/01/). Estimation issues with PLS and CBSEM: Where the bias lies! *Journal of Business Research*, 69(10), 3998-4010. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.06.007</u>
- Sarstedt, M., Ringle, C. M., Henseler, J., & Hair, J. F. (2014, 2014/06/01/). On the Emancipation of PLS-SEM: A Commentary on Rigdon (2012). *Long*

Range Planning, 47(3), 154-160. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2014.02.007

Sayani, H., & Miniaoui, H. (2013). Determinants of bank selection in the United Arab Emirates. *International Journal of Bank Marketing, 31*(3), 206-228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/02652321311315302</u>

Schindler, P. S. (2019). Business research methods (13 ed.). McGraw-Hill/Irwin.

- Schmidt, A., Trenka, J., Franzén, R., Gerhard, A., & Holtgrave, M. (2019). *The Future of Automotive Sales*
- Direct. A new Way for OEMs and Dealers to Thrive in Times of Disruption. <u>https://www.accenture.com/_acnmedia/PDF-108/Accenture-Study-The-</u> <u>Future-of-Automotive-Sales.pdf</u>
- Sekaran, U., & Bougie, R. (2016). *Research methods for business : a skillbuilding approach* (Seventh edition ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Sharma, S. K., Govindaluri, S. M., & Al Balushi, S. M. (2015). Predicting determinants of Internet banking adoption. *Management Research Review*, 38(7), 750-766. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-06-2014-0139</u>
- Sheth, J. N., Newman, B. I., & Gross, B. L. (1991, 1 September 1991). Why we buy what we buy: A theory of consumption values. *Journal of Business Research*, 22(2), 159-170. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0148-2963(91)90050-8</u>
- Shmueli, G. (2010). To Explain or to Predict? *Statistical Science, 25*(3), 289-310, 222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1214/10-STS330</u>
- Singh, S., & Srivastava, R. K. (2018). Predicting the intention to use mobile banking in India. *International Journal of Bank Marketing, 36*(2), 357-378. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-12-2016-0186

Standard Bank Group. (2020). Annual Integrated Report 2020. https://reporting.standardbank.com/results-reports/annual-reports/

Standard Bank South Africa. (2020, 31 October 2020). Lockdown causes a growth in online shopping and creates a surge in eCommerce https://www.standardbank.co.za/southafrica/news-andmedia/newsroom/lockdown-causes-a-growth-in-online-shopping-andcreates-a-surge-in-ecommerce

- Statistics South Africa. (2020a). *SA economy sheds 2,2 million jobs in Q2 but unemployment levels drop*. <u>http://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=13633</u>
- Statistics South Africa. (2020b). Steep slump in GDP as COVID-19 takes its toll on the economy. <u>http://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=13601</u>

Statistics South Africa. (2021a). *Gross domestic product: First quarter 2021*. <u>http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0441/P04411stQuarter2021.pdf</u>

Statistics South Africa. (2021b). *Quarterly Labour Force Survey Quarter 1:2021*. <u>http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0211/P02111stQuarter2021.pdf</u>

- Stone, M. (1974). Cross-validatory choice and assessment of statistical predictions. *Journal of the royal statistical society: Series B* (*Methodological*), 36(2), 111-133.
- SubPrime. (2016, 22 January 2016). How captives can respond to changing expectations. *SubPrime*. <u>https://www.autoremarketing.com/subprime/how-captives-can-respond-changing-expectations</u>
- Sweeney, J. C., & Soutar, G. N. (2001). Consumer perceived value: The development of a multiple item scale. *Journal of retailing*, 77(2), 203-220.

The World Bank. (2022). *GDP growth (annual %) - South Africa*. The World Bank. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD.ZG?end=2020&I</u> <u>ocations=ZA&start=2015&view=chart</u>

- Thompson, W. (2018). Vehicle finance still a tough space for banks. *Business Live*. <u>https://www.businesslive.co.za/bd/companies/financial-</u> <u>services/2018-12-19-vehicle-finance-still-a-tough-space-for-banks/</u>
- TransUnion. (2021). *TransUnion Industry Insights Report: Quarterly Overview of Consumer Credit Trends Released by TransUnion Financial Services*. <u>https://www.transunion.co.za/resources/transunion-</u> <u>za/doc/campaign/IIR/INT-AF-21-148810-IIR-Q4-2020/TU-IIR-Q4-2020-</u> <u>Executive-Summary-Report.pdf</u>
- Venkatesh, V., Thong, J. Y. L., & Xu, X. (2012). Consumer Acceptance and Use Of Information Technology: Extending The Unified Theory Of Acceptance and Use Of Technology. *MIS Quarterly*, 36, 157-178.
- Wang, Y., Po Lo, H., Chi, R., & Yang, Y. (2004). An integrated framework for customer value and customer-relationship-management performance: a customer-based perspective from China. *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal, 14*(2/3), 169-182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09604520410528590</u>
- We are Social. (2020). *Digital 2020 South Africa*. <u>https://datareportal.com/reports/digital-2020-south-africa</u>
- We are Social. (2021). *Digital 2021 South Africa*. <u>https://datareportal.com/reports/digital-2021-south-africa</u>
- Westerman, G., Tannou, M., Bonnet, D., Ferraris, P., & McAfee, A. (2012). The Digital Advantage: How digital leaders outperform their peers in every industry. *MITSIoan Management and Capgemini Consulting, MA*, 2, 2-23.
- wheels24. (2021). SA vehicle sales | 600% improvement for April 2021 after 2020 horror show. Retrieved 26 May 2021 from <u>https://www.news24.com/wheels/news/sa_vehicle_sales/sa-vehicle-</u> <u>sales-600-improvement-for-april-2021-after-2020-horror-show-20210505</u>
- Williams, P., & Soutar, G. N. (2009). Value, satisfaction and behavioral intentions in an adventure tourism context. *Annals of tourism research*, *36*(3), 413-438.
- Wong, K. K.-K. (2013). Partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM) techniques using SmartPLS. *Marketing Bulletin, 24*(1), 1-32.
- Yilmazer, T. (2005). The determinants of consumers adoption of Internet banking.
- Yousafzai, S., & Yani-de-Soriano, M. (2012). Understanding customer-specific factors underpinning internet banking adoption. *International Journal of Bank Marketing, 30*(1), 60-81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/02652321211195703</u>

- Zeithaml, V. A. (1988). Consumer Perceptions of Price, Quality, and Value: A Means-End Model and Synthesis of Evidence. *Journal of Marketing*, *52*(3), 2-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/002224298805200302</u>
- Zeithaml, V. A., Verleye, K., Hatak, I., Koller, M., & Zauner, A. (2020). Three decades of customer value research: paradigmatic roots and future research avenues. *Journal of Service Research*, *23*(4), 409-432.
- Zhao, C., Noman, A. H. M., & Asiaei, K. (2021). Exploring the reasons for bankswitching behavior in retail banking. *International Journal of Bank Marketing, ahead-of-print*(ahead-of-print). <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-01-2021-0042</u>

APPENDIX A – Consistency Matrix

The influence	of customer touch-point	digitalisation on custom	er perceived value (CPV)	within the South Africa	in vehicle and ass	et finance (VAF)	market
Main Objective: To inves	tigate the influence of cu	istomer touch-point digit	alisation on customer per	ceived value (CPV) wit	hin the South Afric	can vehicle and a	sset finance (VAF)
Sub-Objectives	Literature Review	Hypotheses	Research questions	Variables (Independent & Dependent)	Source of data	Type of data	Analysis
To investigate the influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on functional value (price) in the VAF product context?	<u>CPV:</u> Zeithaml (1988) Sheth et al. (1991) Sweeney and Soutar (2001) Pura (2005)	Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive influence on Functional value (price)	Does customer touch- point digitalisation have an influence on Functional value (price) in the VAF product context?	IV1 = customer touch-point digitalisation DV1 = Functional value (price)	Questionnaire Q9 TO Q12	Ordinal Data (5-point Likert scale)	DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSIS: • Mean • Standard deviation • Skewness
To investigate the influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on functional value (quality) in the VAF product context?	Sánchez et al. (2006) Fandos Roig et al. (2006) Meuter et al. (2000) Parente et al. (2015) <u>Digitalisation</u> :	Customer touch-point digitalisation has a strong positive influence on Functional value (quality)	Does customer touch- point digitalisation have an influence have an influence on Functional value (quality) in the VAF product context?	IV1 = customer touch-point digitalisation DV2 = Functional value (quality)	Questionnaire Q13 to Q18	Ordinal Data (5-point Likert scale)	• Kurtosis PARTIAL LEAST SQUARES STRUCTURAL EQUATION

The influence	of customer touch-point	digitalisation on custom	er perceived value (CPV)	within the South Africa	n vehicle and asse	et finance (VAF) i	market
Main Objective: To inves	tigate the influence of cu	ustomer touch-point digit	alisation on customer per	ceived value (CPV) wit	hin the South Afric	an vehicle and a	sset finance (VAF)
Sub-Objectives	Literature Review	Hypotheses	Research questions	Variables (Independent & Dependent)	Source of data	Type of data	Analysis
	Armstrong and Lee						MODELLING
	(2021)						(PLS-SEM):
							<u>Measurement</u>
	Mostafa (2020)						<u>model:</u>
	Demirci Orel and						Factor
	Kara (2014); Kurz						loadings
	(2017); Singh and						Cross-
	Srivastava (2018)						loadings
							HTMT
	Determinants of						Cronbach's
To investigate the	bank selection:	Customer touch point	Does customer touch-	IV/1 - customer			alpha
influence of customer		digitalisation has a	point digitalisation have	touch point		Ordinal Data	Rho_A
touch-point digitalisation	Agarwal (2017);		an influence have an	digitaliaation	Questionnaire	(5 point Likert	Composite
on emotional value in the	Aregbeyen (2011);	strong positive	influence on Emotional		Q19 to Q22		reliability
VAF product context?	Blankson et al.	Finite On	value in the VAF			scale	• AVE
	(2007); Garg et al.	Emotional value	product context?	value			Structural Model
	(2014); Hinson et al.						

The influence	of customer touch-point	digitalisation on custom	er perceived value (CPV)	within the South Africa	an vehicle and ass	et finance (VAF)	market	
Main Objective: To inves	tigate the influence of cu	ustomer touch-point digit	alisation on customer per	ceived value (CPV) wit	hin the South Afric	can vehicle and a	sset finance (VAF	-)
Sub-Objectives	Literature Review	Hypotheses	Research questions	Variables (Independent & Dependent)	Source of data	Type of data	Analysis	
	(2013); Lelissa and Metasebiya (2017); Phuong Ta and Yin Har (2000); Sayani and Miniaoui (2013)						 R² Q² f² Path coefficients Multigroup analysis 	
To investigate the role age and gender play in the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV	Morris et al. (2005) Sharma et al. (2015) Kim (2016) Sakkthivel and Ramu (2018)	Age and Gender play a significant moderating role in the relationship between Customer touch-point digitalisation and Functional value (price). Age and Gender play	Do age and gender moderate the relationship between customer touch-point digitalisation and CPV and its dimensions?	Moderating Variables: MV1: Age MV2: Gender	Questionnaire Q4 to Q6 Questionnaire	Categorical Data Categorical	anaiysis	
		a significant moderating role in the		Variables: MV1: Age	Q4 to Q6	Data		

iin Objective: To inve	estigate the influence of c	ustomer touch-point digita	alisation on customer per market	ceived value (CPV) wi	thin the South Afri	can vehicle and as	set finance (VA
Sub-Objectives	Literature Review	Hypotheses	Research questions	Variables (Independent & Dependent)	Source of data	Type of data	Analysis
		relationship between Customer touch-point digitalisation and Functional value (quality). Age and Gender play a significant moderating role in the		MV2: Gender <u>Moderating</u> Variables:	Questionnaire	Categorical	
		relationship between Customer touch-point digitalisation and Emotional value.		MV1: Age MV2: Gender	Q4 to Q6	Data	

APPENDIX B – Actual Research Instrument

CONSENT

Title of Project: Influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on perceived value in the SA VAF market

Does the fact that your vehicle and asset finance provider offers digital customer touch-points affect how you evaluate their value proposition?

My name is Sbusiso Tshuma, and I am a Master of Management in Digital Business student at the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. I am undertaking a research project as part of my studies, and I am investigating the influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on customer perceived value under the supervision of Dr. Thomas Anning-Dorson. As part of this project, I would like to invite you to take part in completing an online questionnaire. This will take approximately 5-10 minutes to complete, and it consists of 24 questions.

There will be no personal costs to you if you participate in this study. You may withdraw at any time you want to. The questionnaire will be completely confidential and anonymous as I will not be asking for your name or any identifying information, and the information you give will be held securely and not disclosed to anyone else.

If you have any questions during or afterwards about this research, feel free to contact me or my supervisor on the details listed below. This study will be written up as a research report which will be available online through the university library website.

Researcher: Sbusiso Tshuma, 1578239@students.wits.ac.za Supervisor:

Dr. Thomas Anning-Dorson, thomas.dorson.anning@wits.ac.za

- Yes, I consent
- No, I do not consent

QUESTIONNAIRE

Section 1: Qualifying questions

Q1 Have you purchased a personal use vehicle using a vehicle and asset finance (VAF) product before?

- Yes
- No

Q2 Do you reside in the Republic of South Africa?

- Yes
- No

Q3 Which VAF provider did you use for your most recent vehicle purchase.

- ABSA VAF
- Nedbank Motor Finance Corporation
- Standard Bank VAF
- WesBank
- Other

Section 2: Demographic information

Q4 Please indicate your age.

- 18 24 years
- 25 34 years
- 35 44 years
- 45 54 years
- 55 64 years
- 65 years and older

Q5 Please indicate your gender.

- Male
- Female
- Other

Section 3: Perceived level and use of digitalisation

Q6 I'm aware of the digital ways of transacting and servicing that my VAF provider offers (e.g., digital contracting, digital statements, online border letters, online query resolution etc.).

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Q7 My VAF provider's level of customer touch-point digitalisation is.

- High
- Slightly High
- Moderate
- Slightly Low
- Low

Q8 I **MOSTLY** use digital channels (mobile app, website, USSD) to transact and get service from my VAF provider.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Section 4: Functional value (price) – Please answer these questions with your current or most recent VAF provider in mind.

VAF provider in this context refers to a financial institution that offers vehicle and asset finance products to private individuals.

Q9 The maintenance (monthly) fees charged by my VAF provider are acceptable.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Q10 The amount I pay for services (e.g., statements, payments, letters, etc.) is fair.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Q11 The cost I incur to make transactions is acceptable (e.g., parking, transportation, airtime etc.).

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Q12 The level of service is good for the expense (both monetary and nonmonetary) it causes me.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree

• Strongly Disagree

Section 5 Functional value (quality) - Please answer these questions with your current or most recent VAF provider in mind.

VAF provider in this context refers to a financial institution that offers vehicle and asset finance products to private individuals

Q13 The service I receive from my VAF provider as a whole is correct.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Q14 The quality of the service provided by my VAF provider is consistent.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Q15 The level of quality I receive from my VAF provider is acceptable in comparison with other entities.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neutral
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Q16 My VAF provider's processes are fast and reliable.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree

- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Q17 Overall, the quality of services provided by my VAF provider is very good.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neutral
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Q18 I am able to make transactions and get service (e.g., statements, border letters, account changes) at convenient times.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Section 6 Emotional value - Please answer these questions with your current or most recent VAF provider in mind.

VAF provider in this context refers to a financial institution that offers vehicle and asset finance products to private individuals.

Q19 I am happy with the VAF provider I am using.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Q20 When I interact with my VAF provider I feel relaxed.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree

- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Q21 In general I feel at ease concerning my VAF provider.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Q22 My VAF provider handles my information in a confidential and private manner.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Section 7 Value Perception - Please answer these questions with your current or most recent VAF provider in mind.

VAF provider in this context refers to a financial institution that offers vehicle and asset finance products to private individuals

Q23 I would make use of my current VAF provider for my future VAF needs.

- Strongly Agree
- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Q24 I would recommend my current VAF provider to my friends and family.

• Strongly Agree

- Somewhat Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

APPENDIX C – Research Invitations



Figure 13: QR Code Poster Invitation



Sbusiso Tshuma IT Professional in Financial Services 3mo • 🕥

Does the fact that your vehicle and asset finance provider offers digital customer service touchpoints affect how you evaluate their value proposition?

I am a Master of Management in Digital Business student at the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg and as part of my studies I am investigating the influence of customer touch-point digitalisation on customer perceived value.

As part of this project, I would like to invite you to take part in completing an online questionnaire. This will take approximately 5 - 10 minutes to complete, and it consists of 25 questions.



Figure 14: LinkedIn Invitation

• • •

Does the fact that your vehicle and asset finance provider offers digital customer touch-points affect how you evaluate their value proposition? I would like to invite you to take part in completing an online questionnaire. forms.office.com/r/NnsGE4Jz6R

#Wits #Survey #SouthAfrica



Figure 15: Social Media Invitation